

RECEIVED: October 3, 2007 ACCEPTED: October 8, 2007 PUBLISHED: November 20, 2007

Infrared structure of $e^+e^- \rightarrow 3$ jets at NNLO

Aude Gehrmann-De Ridder

Institute for Theoretical Physics, ETH, CH-8093 Zürich, Switzerland E-mail: gehra@phys.ethz.ch

Thomas Gehrmann

Institut für Theoretische Physik, Universität Zürich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, CH-8057 Zürich, Switzerland E-mail: thomas.gehrmann@physik.uzh.ch

E.W. Nigel Glover

Institute of Particle Physics Phenomenology, Department of Physics, University of Durham, Durham, DH1 3LE, U.K. E-mail: e.w.n.glover@durham.ac.uk

Gudrun Heinrich

School of Physics, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh EH9 3JZ, Scotland, U.K. E-mail: gheinric@ph.ed.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We describe the calculation of the next-to-next-to-leading order (NNLO) QCD corrections to three-jet production and related event shape observables in electron-positron annihilation. Infrared singularities due to double real radiation at tree level and single real radiation at one loop are subtracted from the full QCD matrix elements using antenna functions, which are then integrated analytically and added to the two loop contribution. Using this antenna subtraction method, we obtain numerically finite contributions from five-parton and four-parton processes, and observe an explicit analytic cancellation of infrared poles in the four-parton and three-parton contributions. All contributions are implemented in a flexible parton-level event generator programme, allowing the numerical computation of any infrared-safe observable related to three-jet final states to NNLO accuracy.

KEYWORDS: QCD, Jets, LEP HERA and SLC Physics.

Contents

1.	Inti	roduction	2		
2.	Perturbative calculation of jet observables in e^+e^- -annihilation				
	2.1	NLO antenna subtraction	5		
	2.2	NNLO antenna subtraction	7		
3.	Phase space mappings				
	3.1	Mapping for single unresolved configurations	11		
	3.2	Mappings from five partons to three partons	12		
		3.2.1 Double unresolved configurations	12		
		3.2.2 Iteration of single unresolved configurations	13		
	3.3	Decomposition of antenna functions into sub-antennae	15		
	3.4	Angular terms	20		
4.	Par	ton-level contributions to $e^+e^- ightarrow 3$ jets up to NNLO	22		
	4.1	Tree-level matrix elements for up to five partons	23		
	4.2	One-loop matrix elements for up to four partons	26		
	4.3	Two-loop matrix elements for three partons	30		
5.	Coi	nstruction of the NLO subtraction term	32		
6.	Cor	nstruction of the N^2 colour factor	33		
	6.1	Five-parton contribution	33		
	6.2	Four-parton contribution	36		
	6.3	Three-parton contribution	37		
7.	Сот	nstruction of the N^0 colour factor	37		
	7.1	Five-parton contribution	37		
	7.2	Four-parton contribution	39		
	7.3	Three-parton contribution	40		
8.	Construction of the $1/N^2$ colour factor				
	8.1	Five-parton contribution	40		
	8.2	Four-parton contribution	41		
	8.3	Three-parton contribution	42		
9.	Сот	nstruction of the $N_F N$ colour factor	42		
	9.1	Five-parton contribution	42		
	9.2	Four-parton contribution	43		
	9.3	Three-parton contribution	44		

10.	Construction of the N_F/N colour factor	45
	10.1 Five-parton contribution	45
	10.2 Four-parton contribution	46
	10.3 Three-parton contribution	47
11.	Construction of the N_F^2 colour factor	47
	11.1 Four-parton contribution	47
	11.2 Three-parton contribution	48
12.	Construction of the $N_{F,\gamma}$ colour factor	48
	12.1 Five-parton contribution	48
	12.2 Four-parton contribution	49
	12.3 Three-parton contribution	49
13.	Numerical implementation	49
14.	Thrust distribution as an example	51
15.	Conclusions and outlook	56
3.	Phase space mappings	i
	3.3 Decomposition of antenna functions into sub-antennae	i
	3.4 Angular terms	i
14.	Thrust distribution as an example	iv

1. Introduction

Among jet observables, the three-jet production rate in electron-positron annihilation plays a very prominent role. The initial experimental observation of three-jet events at PE-TRA [1], in agreement with the theoretical prediction [2], provided first evidence for the gluon, and thus strong support for the theory of Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) [3]. Subsequently the three-jet rate and related event shape observables were used for the precise determination of the QCD coupling constant α_s (see [4] for a review). Especially at LEP, three-jet observables were measured to a very high precision and the error on the extraction of α_s from these data is dominated by the uncertainty inherent in the theoretical description of the jet observables. This description is at present based on a next-to-leading order (NLO) calculation [5–10], combined with next-to-leading logarithmic (NLL) resummation [11, 12] and inclusion of power corrections [13]. The calculation of next-to-nextto-leading order (NNLO), i.e. $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$, corrections to the three-jet rate in e^+e^- annihilation has therefore been high on the list of priorities for a long time [14]. Besides its phenomenological importance, the three-jet rate has also served as a theoretical testing ground for the development of new techniques for higher order calculations in QCD: both the subtraction [5, 15, 16] and the phase-space slicing [7] methods for the extraction of infrared singularities from NLO real radiation processes were developed in the context of the first three-jet calculations. The systematic formulation of phase-space slicing [9] as well as the dipole subtraction [10] method were also first demonstrated for three-jet observables, before being applied to other processes.

Over the past years, many of the ingredients necessary for NNLO calculations of jet observables have become available: two-loop corrections to all phenomenologically relevant massless $2 \rightarrow 2$ [17] and $1 \rightarrow 3$ [18, 19] reactions were computed already several years ago, while one-loop $2 \rightarrow 3$ [20] and $1 \rightarrow 4$ [21] matrix elements are available for even longer. Despite all ingredients being available in principle, until recently it was not possible to perform NNLO calculations of any kind of exclusive observables, since techniques for the extraction of multiple real radiation singularities at NNLO were not sufficiently developed.

Up to now, the only general method for handling this problem was the sector decomposition technique [23, 22] for the treatment of real radiation singularities. Using this, NNLO calculations of exclusive processes were performed for $e^+e^- \rightarrow 2j$ [24], Higgs production [25] and vector boson production [26] at hadron colliders, as well as the QED corrections to muon decay [27].

Furthermore, exploiting the specific kinematic features of the observable under consideration, exclusive NNLO results were derived for the forward-backward asymmetry in e^+e^- annihilation [28], for $e^+e^- \rightarrow 2j$ [29, 30] and most recently for Higgs production at hadron colliders [31].

In the present paper, we employ a recently developed general technique for the treatment of infrared singularities, antenna subtraction [32], to derive the NNLO corrections to three-jet production in electron-positron annihilation. The first phenomenological applications of our results to the thrust distribution were documented earlier in [33].

The paper is structured as follows: in section 2, we outline the perturbative calculation of jet observables and summarise the antenna subtraction method used here. The implementation of this method requires phase space mappings, which are described in section 3. All relevant tree-level, one-loop and two-loop matrix elements are listed in section 4. Section 5 briefly summarises how the NLO corrections are implemented using antenna subtraction. Sections 6–12 contain the subtraction terms constructed for all colour factors relevant in this calculation. The numerical implementation of all terms into a parton-level event generator is described in section 13. As a first example of the implementation, we discuss the NNLO corrections to the thrust distribution in section 14. A summary and an outlook on applications is given in section 15.

2. Perturbative calculation of jet observables in e^+e^- -annihilation

To obtain the perturbative corrections to a jet observable at a given order, all partonic multiplicity channels contributing to that order have to be summed. In general, each partonic channel contains both ultraviolet and infrared (soft and collinear) singularities. The ultraviolet poles are removed by renormalisation, however for suitably inclusive observables, the soft and collinear infrared poles cancel among each other when all partonic channels are summed over [34].

While infrared singularities from purely virtual corrections are obtained immediately after integration over the loop momenta, their extraction is more involved for real emission (or mixed real-virtual) contributions. Here, the infrared singularities only become explicit after integrating the real radiation matrix elements over the phase space appropriate to the jet observable under consideration. In general, this integration involves the (often iterative) definition of the jet observable, such that an analytic integration is not feasible (and also not appropriate). Instead, one would like to have a flexible method that can be easily adapted to different jet observables or jet definitions.

Three types of approaches for this task have been developed so far. Phase-space slicing techniques [7, 9, 35] decompose the final state phase space into resolved regions, which are integrated numerically and unresolved regions, which are integrated analytically. The sector decomposition approach [23, 22] divides the integration region into sectors containing a single type of singularity each. Subsequently, the phase space integration is expanded into distributions. In this approach, the coefficients of all infrared divergent terms, as well as the finite remainder, can be computed numerically. Finally, subtraction methods [5, 15, 16] extract infrared singularities of the real radiation contributions using infrared subtraction terms. These terms are constructed such that they approximate the full real radiation matrix elements in all singular limits while still being simple enough to integrate analytically.

To specify the notation, we define the tree-level *n*-parton contribution to the *m*-jet cross section (for tree level cross sections n = m; we leave $n \neq m$ for later reference) in *d* dimensions by,

$$d\sigma^{B} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{n} d\Phi_{n}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}; q) \frac{1}{S_{n}} |\mathcal{M}_{n}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{n})|^{2} J_{m}^{(n)}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}).$$
(2.1)

the normalisation factor \mathcal{N} includes all QCD-independent factors as well as the dependence on the renormalised QCD coupling constant α_s , \sum_n denotes the sum over all configurations with n partons, $d\Phi_n$ is the phase space for an n-parton final state with total four-momentum q^{μ} in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions,

$$d\Phi_n(p_1,\ldots,p_n;q) = \frac{d^{d-1}p_1}{2E_1(2\pi)^{d-1}} \cdots \frac{d^{d-1}p_n}{2E_n(2\pi)^{d-1}} (2\pi)^d \,\delta^d(q-p_1-\ldots-p_n)\,,\qquad(2.2)$$

while S_n is a symmetry factor for identical partons in the final state. The jet function $J_m^{(n)}$ defines the procedure for building m jets out of n partons. The main property of $J_m^{(n)}$ is that the jet observable defined above is collinear and infrared safe as explained in [10, 38]. In general $J_m^{(n)}$ contains θ and δ -functions. $J_m^{(n)}$ can also represent the definition of the n-parton contribution to an event shape observable related to m-jet final states.

 $|\mathcal{M}_n|^2$ denotes a squared, colour ordered tree-level *n*-parton matrix element. Contributions to the squared matrix element which are subleading in the number of colours can

equally be treated in the same context, noting that these subleading terms yield configurations where a certain number of essentially non-interacting particles are emitted between a pair of hard radiators. By carrying out the colour algebra, it becomes evident that nonordered gluon emission inside a colour-ordered system is equivalent to photon emission off the outside legs of the system [37, 36]. For simplicity, these subleading colour contributions are also denoted as squared matrix elements $|\mathcal{M}_m|^2$, although they often correspond purely to interference terms between different amplitudes. The precise definition depends on the number and types of particles involved in the process. However, all colour orderings are summed over in \sum_m with the appropriate colour weighting.

From (2.1), one obtains the leading order approximation to the m-jet cross section by integration over the appropriate phase space.

$$\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{LO}} = \int_{\mathrm{d}\Phi_m} \mathrm{d}\sigma^B \,. \tag{2.3}$$

Depending on the jet function used, this cross section can still be differential in certain kinematic quantities.

2.1 NLO antenna subtraction

At NLO, we consider the following m-jet cross section,

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO} = \int_{d\Phi_{m+1}} \left(d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^R - d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^S \right) + \left[\int_{d\Phi_{m+1}} d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^S + \int_{d\Phi_m} d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^V \right].$$
(2.4)

The cross section $d\sigma_{\text{NLO}}^R$ has the same expression as the Born cross section $d\sigma^B$ (2.1) above except that $n \to m + 1$, while $d\sigma_{\text{NLO}}^V$ is the one-loop virtual correction to the *m*-parton Born cross section $d\sigma^B$. The cross section $d\sigma_{\text{NLO}}^S$ is a (preferably local) counter-term for $d\sigma_{\text{NLO}}^R$. It has the same unintegrated singular behaviour as $d\sigma_{\text{NLO}}^R$ in all appropriate limits. Their difference is free of divergences and can be integrated over the (m + 1)-parton phase space numerically. The subtraction term $d\sigma_{\text{NLO}}^S$ has to be integrated analytically over all singular regions of the (m + 1)-parton phase space. The resulting cross section added to the virtual contribution yields an infrared finite result.

Several methods for constructing NLO subtraction terms systematically were proposed in the literature [15, 39-41, 10, 16]. For some of these methods, extension to NNLO was discussed [32, 43, 42] and partly worked out. Up to now, the only method worked out in full detail to NNLO is antenna subtraction [39, 40]. In our calculation of NNLO corrections to three-jet observables, we used this method, which we briefly outline in the following. The details of the method, and a full definition of the notation, can be found in [32].

The basic idea of the antenna subtraction approach is to construct the subtraction terms from antenna functions which encapsulate all singular limits due to the emission of unresolved partons between two colour-connected hard partons. This construction exploits the universal factorisation of both phase space and squared matrix elements in all unresolved limits. The full antenna subtraction term is then constructed by summing products of antenna functions with reduced matrix elements over all possible unresolved configurations.



Figure 1: Illustration of NLO antenna factorisation representing the factorisation of both the squared matrix elements and the (m + 1)-particle phase space. The term in square brackets represents both the antenna function X_{ijk}^0 and the antenna phase space $d\Phi_{X_{ijk}}$.

At NLO, the antenna subtraction term thus reads:

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^{S} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m+1} d\Phi_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+1}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+1}}$$

$$\times \sum_{j} X_{ijk}^0 |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, p_{m+1})|^2 J_m^{(m)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, p_{m+1}) .$$
(2.5)

The key ingredient is the phase space mapping which relates the original momenta p_i, p_j, p_k describing the two hard radiator partons *i* and *k* and the emitted parton *j* to a redefined on-shell set \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K which are linear combinations of p_i, p_j, p_k . The phase space mapping yielding this redefinition is described in detail in section 3 below. With this mapping, the phase space factorises,

$$d\Phi_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+1}; q) = d\Phi_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, p_{m+1}; q) \cdot d\Phi_{X_{ijk}}(p_i, p_j, p_k; \tilde{p}_I + \tilde{p}_K) .$$
(2.6)

The other elements of the subtraction term also depend on *either* the original momenta p_i, p_j, p_k or the redefined on-shell momenta \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K but not both. This enables the subtraction term to completely factorise.

To be more specific, both the *m*-parton amplitude and the jet function $J_m^{(m)}$ depend only on $p_1, \ldots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \ldots, p_{m+1}$ i.e. on the redefined on-shell momenta \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K . On the other hand, the tree-level three-parton antenna function X_{ijk}^0 depends only on p_i, p_j, p_k . X_{ijk}^0 describes all of the configurations (for this colour ordered amplitude) where parton j is unresolved. It can be obtained from appropriately normalised tree-level three-parton squared matrix elements. The antenna factorisation of squared matrix element and phase space can be illustrated pictorially, as displayed in figure 1. Together particles i and k form a colour connected hard antenna that radiates particle j. In doing so, the momenta of the radiators change to form particles I and K. The type of particle may also change.

One can therefore carry out the integration over the antenna phase space appropriate to p_i , p_j and p_k analytically, exploiting the factorisation of the phase space of eq. (2.6). The NLO antenna phase space $d\Phi_{X_{ijk}}$ is proportional to the three-particle phase space, as can be seen by using m = 2 in the above formula. For the analytic integration, we can use (2.6) to rewrite each of the subtraction terms in the form,

$$|\mathcal{M}_m|^2 J_m^{(m)} \,\mathrm{d}\Phi_m \int \mathrm{d}\Phi_{X_{ijk}} X_{ijk}^0 = |\mathcal{M}_m|^2 J_m^{(m)} \,\mathrm{d}\Phi_m \ \mathcal{X}_{ijk}$$

where $|\mathcal{M}_m|^2$, $J_m^{(m)}$ and $d\Phi_m$ depend only on $p_1, \ldots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \ldots, p_{m+1}$ and $d\Phi_{X_{ijk}}$ and X_{ijk}^0 depend only on p_i, p_j, p_k . This integration is performed analytically in d dimensions, yielding the integrated three-parton antenna function \mathcal{X}_{ijk} , to make the infrared singularities explicit and added directly to the one-loop m-particle contributions.

2.2 NNLO antenna subtraction

At NNLO, the *m*-jet production is induced by final states containing up to (m+2) partons, including the one-loop virtual corrections to (m+1)-parton final states. As at NLO, one has to introduce subtraction terms for the (m+1)- and (m+2)-parton contributions. Schematically the NNLO *m*-jet cross section reads,

$$d\sigma_{\rm NNLO} = \int_{d\Phi_{m+2}} \left(d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^R - d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^S \right) + \int_{d\Phi_{m+2}} d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^S + \int_{d\Phi_{m+1}} \left(d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^{V,1} - d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^{V,1} \right) + \int_{d\Phi_{m+1}} d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^{V,1} + \int_{d\Phi_m} d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^{V,2} , \qquad (2.7)$$

where $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^S$ denotes the real radiation subtraction term coinciding with the (m + 2)parton tree level cross section $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^R$ in all singular limits. Likewise, $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1}$ is the one-loop virtual subtraction term coinciding with the one-loop (m+1)-parton cross section $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{V,1}$ in all singular limits. Finally, the two-loop correction to the *m*-parton cross section is denoted by $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{V,2}$.

At NNLO, individual antenna functions are obtained from normalised four-parton treelevel and three-parton one-loop matrix elements. The full antenna subtraction term is then constructed by summing products of antenna functions with reduced matrix elements over all possible unresolved configurations.

In $d\sigma_{NNLO}^S$, we have to distinguish four different types of unresolved configurations:

- (a) One unresolved parton but the experimental observable selects only m jets;
- (b) Two colour-connected unresolved partons (colour-connected);
- (c) Two unresolved partons that are not colour connected but share a common radiator (almost colour-unconnected);
- (d) Two unresolved partons that are well separated from each other in the colour chain (colour-unconnected).

Among those, configuration (a) is properly accounted for by a single tree-level three-parton antenna function like used already at NLO. Configuration (b) requires a tree-level fourparton antenna function (two unresolved partons emitted between a pair of hard partons)



Figure 2: Illustration of NNLO antenna factorisation representing the factorisation of both the squared matrix elements and the (m + 2)-particle phase space when the unresolved particles are colour connected.

as shown in figure 2, while (c) and (d) are accounted for by products of two tree-level three-parton antenna functions. The subtraction terms for these configurations read:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{S,a} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m+2} d\Phi_{m+2}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+2}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+2}} \\ \times \left[\sum_j X_{ijk}^0 |\mathcal{M}_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, p_{m+2}) |^2 \\ \times J_m^{(m+1)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, p_{m+2}) \right], \qquad (2.8) \\ d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{S,b} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m+2} d\Phi_{m+2}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+2}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+2}} \\ \times \left[\sum_{jk} (X_{ijkl}^0 - X_{ijk}^0 X_{IKl}^0 - X_{jkl}^0 X_{iJL}^0) \\ \times |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_L, \dots, p_{m+2})|^2 J_m^{(m)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_L, \dots, p_{m+2}) \right], \qquad (2.9) \\ d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{S,c} = -\mathcal{N} \sum_{m+2} d\Phi_{m+2}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+2}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+2}} \\ \times \left[\sum_{j,l} X_{ijk}^0 x_{mlK}^0 |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \tilde{p}_M, \dots, p_{m+2}) |^2 \\ \times J_m^{(m)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \tilde{p}_M, \dots, p_{m+2}) \\ + \sum_{j,l} X_{klm}^0 x_{ijK}^0 |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \tilde{p}_M, \dots, p_{m+2}) |^2 \\ \times J_m^{(m)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \tilde{p}_M, \dots, p_{m+2}) \\ + \sum_{j,l} X_{klm}^0 x_{ijK}^0 |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \tilde{p}_M, \dots, p_{m+2}) |^2 \\ \times J_m^{(m)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \tilde{p}_M, \dots, p_{m+2}) \\ \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.10)$$



Figure 3: Illustration of NNLO antenna factorisation representing the factorisation of both the one-loop "squared" matrix elements (represented by the white blob) when the unresolved particles are colour connected.

$$d\sigma_{NNLO}^{S,d} = -\mathcal{N} \sum_{m+2} d\Phi_{m+2}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+2}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+2}} \\ \times \left[\sum_{j,o} X_{ijk}^0 X_{nop}^0 |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, \tilde{p}_N, \tilde{p}_P, \dots, p_{m+2}) |^2 \right. \\ \left. \times J_m^{(m)}(p_1, \dots, \tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K, \dots, \tilde{p}_N, \tilde{p}_P, \dots, p_{m+2}) \right].$$
(2.11)

Again, the original momenta of the (m+2)-parton phase space are denoted by i, j, \ldots , while the combined momenta obtained from a phase space mapping are labelled by I, J, \ldots . Only the combined momenta appear in the jet function. The phase space mappings appropriate to the different cases are described in detail in section 3 below. X_{ijkl}^0 is a four-parton antenna function, containing all configurations where partons j and k are unresolved, while x_{ijk}^0 is a three-parton sub-antenna function containing only limits where parton jis unresolved with respect to parton i, but not limits where parton j is unresolved with respect to parton k. The factorisation of the phase space is analogous to the factorisation at NLO (2.6), such that integration of these antenna functions over the antenna phase space amounts to inclusive three-particle or four-particle integrals [22].

In single unresolved limits, the one-loop cross section $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{V,1}$ is described by the sum of two terms [44]: a tree-level splitting function times a one-loop cross section and a oneloop splitting function times a tree-level cross section. Consequently, the one-loop single unresolved subtraction term $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1}$ is constructed from tree-level and one-loop threeparton antenna functions, as sketched in figure 3. Several other terms in $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1}$ cancel with the results from the integration of terms in the double real radiation subtraction term $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{S}$ over the phase space appropriate to one of the unresolved partons, thus ensuring the cancellation of all explicit infrared poles in the difference $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{V,1} - d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1}$. Explicitly, the one-loop single unresolved subtraction term is given by the sum of the three following contributions:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1,a} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m+1} d\Phi_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+1}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+1}}$$
$$\times \left[\sum_{ik} -\mathcal{X}_{ijk}^0(s_{ik}) |\mathcal{M}_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, p_i, p_k, \dots, p_{m+1})|^2 \right]$$

$$\times J_m^{(m+1)}(p_1, \dots, p_i, p_k, \dots, p_{m+1})$$
, (2.12)

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1,b} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m+1} d\Phi_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+1}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+1}}$$
(2.13)

$$\times \sum_{j} \left[X_{ijk}^{0} |\mathcal{M}_{m}^{1}(p_{1}, \dots, \tilde{p}_{I}, \tilde{p}_{K}, \dots, p_{m+1})|^{2} J_{m}^{(m)}(p_{1}, \dots, \tilde{p}_{I}, \tilde{p}_{K}, \dots, p_{m+1}) \right. \\ \left. + X_{ijk}^{1} |\mathcal{M}_{m}(p_{1}, \dots, \tilde{p}_{I}, \tilde{p}_{K}, \dots, p_{m+1})|^{2} J_{m}^{(m)}(p_{1}, \dots, \tilde{p}_{I}, \tilde{p}_{K}, \dots, p_{m+1}) \right],$$

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1,c} = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m+1} d\Phi_{m+1}(p_1, \dots, p_{m+1}; q) \frac{1}{S_{m+1}} \\ \times \left[\sum_{ik} \mathcal{X}^0_{ijk}(s_{ik}) \sum_o X^0_{nop} |\mathcal{M}_m(p_1, \dots, p_i, p_k, \dots, \tilde{p}_N, \tilde{p}_P, \dots, p_{m+1})|^2 \right. \\ \left. \times J^{(m)}_m(p_1, \dots, p_i, p_k, \dots, \tilde{p}_N, \tilde{p}_P, \dots, p_{m+1}) \right],$$
(2.14)

In here, X_{ijk}^1 denotes a one-loop three-parton antenna function.

Finally, all remaining terms in $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^S$ and $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{VS,1}$ have to be integrated over the four-parton and three-parton antenna phase spaces. After integration, the infrared poles are rendered explicit and cancel with the infrared pole terms in the two-loop squared matrix element $d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}}^{V,2}$.

The subtraction terms $d\sigma_{NLO}^S$, $d\sigma_{NNLO}^S$ and $d\sigma_{NNLO}^{VS,1}$ require three different types of antenna functions corresponding to the different pairs of hard partons forming the antenna: quark-antiquark, quark-gluon and gluon-gluon antenna functions. In the past [39, 40], NLO antenna functions were constructed by imposing definite properties in all single unresolved limits (two collinear limits and one soft limit for each antenna). This procedure turns out to be impractical at NNLO, where each antenna function must have definite behaviours in a large number of single and double unresolved limits. Instead, we derived these antenna functions in a systematic manner from physical matrix elements known to possess the correct limits. The quark-antiquark antenna functions can be obtained directly from the $e^+e^- \rightarrow 2j$ real radiation corrections at NLO and NNLO [29]. For quark-gluon and gluon-gluon antenna functions, effective Lagrangians [45, 46] are used to obtain tree-level processes yielding a quark-gluon or gluon-gluon final state. The antenna functions are then derived from the real radiation corrections to these processes. Quark-gluon antenna functions were derived [47] from the purely QCD (i.e. non-supersymmetric) NLO and NNLO corrections to the decay of a heavy neutralino into a massless gluino plus partons [45], while gluon-gluon antenna functions [48] result from the QCD corrections to Higgs boson decay into partons [46].

All tree-level three-parton and four-parton antenna functions and three-parton oneloop antenna functions are listed in [32]. Their integration over the antenna phase space amounts to performing inclusive infrared-divergent three-parton and four-parton phase space integrals. Techniques for evaluating these integrals are described in [22, 49], and all integrated antenna functions are documented in [32].

3. Phase space mappings

The subtraction terms for single and double unresolved configurations described in the previous section involve the mapping of the momenta appearing in the antenna functions into combined momenta, which appear in the reduced matrix elements and in the jet function.

At NLO, one needs momentum mappings from three partons to two partons,

$$\mathcal{F}^{(3\to2)}: \{p_i, p_j, p_k\} \to \{\tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_K\}.$$

At NNLO, several further mappings are needed. First and foremost, one needs momentum mappings from four partons to two partons,

$$\mathcal{F}^{(4\to2)}: \{p_i, p_j, p_k, p_l\} \to \{\tilde{p}_I, \tilde{p}_L\}.$$

In addition, repeated mappings from three partons to two partons are also required.

For the subtraction and phase space factorisation to work correctly, all mappings must satisfy the following requirements (specified here for the example of $\mathcal{F}^{(4\to 2)}$):

- 1. momentum conservation: $\tilde{p}_I + \tilde{p}_L = p_i + p_j + p_k + p_l$.
- 2. the new momenta should be on-shell: $\tilde{p}_I^2 = 0$, $\tilde{p}_L^2 = 0$.
- 3. the new momenta should reduce to the appropriate original momenta in the exact singular limits, e.g. $\tilde{p}_I = p_i + p_j + p_k$, $\tilde{p}_L = p_l$ in the (i, j, k) triple collinear limit.
- 4. the mapping should not introduce spurious singularities.

The momentum mappings we use follow largely those worked out in [40, 43]. The different types of mappings needed for our calculation are described in detail in the following subsections.

3.1 Mapping for single unresolved configurations

In the single unresolved limit where parton j becomes unresolved and i, k are the hard radiators, the momenta of the partons i, j, k are mapped to $\tilde{p}_I = (ij)$ and $\tilde{p}_K = (kj)$ in the following way:

$$\tilde{p}_I = x \, p_i + r \, p_j + z \, p_k$$
$$\tilde{p}_K = (1 - x) \, p_i + (1 - r) \, p_j + (1 - z) \, p_k \, ,$$

where

$$x = \frac{1}{2(s_{ij} + s_{ik})} \Big[(1+\rho) \, s_{ijk} - 2 \, r \, s_{jk} \Big]$$

$$z = \frac{1}{2(s_{jk} + s_{ik})} \Big[(1-\rho) \, s_{ijk} - 2 \, r \, s_{ij} \Big]$$

$$\rho^2 = 1 + \frac{4 \, r(1-r) \, s_{ij} s_{jk}}{s_{ijk} s_{ik}} \,. \tag{3.1}$$

The parameter r can be chosen conveniently, we use [40]

$$r = \frac{s_{jk}}{s_{ij} + s_{jk}} \; .$$

3.2 Mappings from five partons to three partons

In the construction of the subtraction terms for the five-parton channel, one encounters, both the four-parton antenna functions (double unresolved limits), and products of two three-parton antenna functions, which compensate for the single unresolved limits of the double unresolved subtraction terms. The former require a $4 \rightarrow 2$ mapping, while the latter require, in general, a $5 \rightarrow 3$ mapping affecting all momenta. Both types of mappings are described in the following.

3.2.1 Double unresolved configurations

In the double unresolved limit where partons i_2 and i_3 become unresolved and i_1, i_4 are the hard radiators, the partons i_1, \ldots, i_4 are mapped to the partons j_1, j_2 with momenta

$$\tilde{p}_{j_1} \equiv (\widetilde{i_1 i_2 i_3}) , \ \tilde{p}_{j_2} \equiv (\widetilde{i_4 i_3 i_2}) .$$

$$(3.2)$$

We will use the shorthand notation (3.2) extensively in the following, keeping in mind however that \tilde{p}_{j_1} and \tilde{p}_{j_2} are linear combinations of all four original momenta with a mapping $\mathcal{F}^{(4\to2)}$: $\{p_{i_1}, p_{i_2}, p_{i_3}, p_{i_4}\} \rightarrow \{\tilde{p}_{j_1}, \tilde{p}_{j_2}\}$ given by:

$$\tilde{p}_{j_1} = x p_{i_1} + r_1 p_{i_2} + r_2 p_{i_3} + z p_{i_4}$$

$$\tilde{p}_{j_2} = (1-x) p_{i_1} + (1-r_1) p_{i_2} + (1-r_2) p_{i_3} + (1-z) p_{i_4} .$$
(3.3)

Defining $s_{kl} = (p_{i_k} + p_{i_l})^2$, the coefficients are given by [43]

 $\lambda(u,$

$$\begin{split} r_1 &= \frac{s_{23} + s_{24}}{s_{12} + s_{23} + s_{24}} \\ r_2 &= \frac{s_{34}}{s_{13} + s_{23} + s_{34}} \\ x &= \frac{1}{2(s_{12} + s_{13} + s_{14})} \left[(1+\rho) \, s_{1234} - r_1 \, (s_{23} + 2 \, s_{24}) - r_2 \, (s_{23} + 2 \, s_{34}) \right. \\ &\quad + (r_1 - r_2) \frac{s_{12}s_{34} - s_{13}s_{24}}{s_{14}} \right] \\ z &= \frac{1}{2(s_{14} + s_{24} + s_{34})} \left[(1-\rho) \, s_{1234} - r_1 \, (s_{23} + 2 \, s_{12}) - r_2 \, (s_{23} + 2 \, s_{13}) \right. \\ &\quad - (r_1 - r_2) \frac{s_{12}s_{34} - s_{13}s_{24}}{s_{14}} \right] \\ \rho &= \left[1 + \frac{(r_1 - r_2)^2}{s_{14}^2 \, s_{1234}^2} \, \lambda(s_{12} \, s_{34}, s_{14} \, s_{23}, s_{13} \, s_{24}) \right. \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{s_{14} \, s_{1234}} \left\{ 2 \, (r_1 \, (1 - r_2) + r_2 (1 - r_1)) (s_{12}s_{34} + s_{13}s_{24} - s_{23}s_{14}) \right. \\ &\quad + 4 \, r_1 \, (1 - r_1) \, s_{12}s_{24} + 4 \, r_2 \, (1 - r_2) \, s_{13}s_{34} \right\} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ v, w) &= u^2 + v^2 + w^2 - 2(uv + uw + vw) \,. \end{split}$$



Figure 4: $\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{B}}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}(i_1, i_2, i_3, i_4, i_5; j_1, j_2, j_3)$: both combined partons $(l_1 \text{ and } l_3)$ are radiators in the second step, original parton i_3 becomes unresolved.

3.2.2 Iteration of single unresolved configurations

The four-particle antennae X_{ijkl}^0 contain by construction all colour-connected double unresolved limits of the (m + 2)-parton matrix element where partons j and k become unresolved. However, X_{ijkl}^0 can also become singular in single unresolved limits, where it does not coincide with limits of the matrix element. These limits have to be subtracted as indicated in eq. 2.9 and as described in section 2.3 of [32]. In the limit where j becomes unresolved between i and k, the four-particle antenna collapses to the three-particle antenna $X^0(i, j, k)$ and a three-particle "remainder matrix element" $X^0(I, K, l)$, which also has the form of a three-particle antenna. If one of the partons I, K, l becomes unresolved in a second single emission, the resulting momenta in these limits coincide with those from a double unresolved configuration as defined in subsection 3.2.1. Therefore we need momentum mappings corresponding to such a "two-step" emission in order to be able to subtract the spurious singularities of the four-particle antennae X_{ijkl}^0 .

As explained in section 2.2 above and in [32], we have to distinguish between colourconnected unresolved partons and almost colour-unconnected unresolved partons. If the unresolved partons are colour-connected, we use the momentum mappings $\mathcal{F}_{B,C}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$: $\{p_{i_1}, p_{i_2}, p_{i_3}, p_{i_4}, p_{i_5}\} \rightarrow \{p_{l_1}, p_{l_2}, p_{l_3}, p_{l_4}\} \rightarrow \{\tilde{p}_{j_1}, \tilde{p}_{j_2}, \tilde{p}_{j_3}\}$, where the different types B,C are described in more detail below. These two-step mappings first map the four partons i_1, \ldots, i_4 making up the four-particle antenna to three "intermediate" partons l_1, l_2, l_3 , and then map the three intermediate partons to two partons j_1, j_2 . The fifth parton $i_5 = l_4 = j_3$ only acts as a spectator. An additional type of mapping, denoted by $\mathcal{F}_K^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$, is needed for subtraction terms of two almost colour-unconnected unresolved partons, as defined in eq. 2.10 and in [32], and involves redefinitions of all five initial partons. All three mappings are depicted in figures 4–6.

In the first step, one of the partons $\{i_1, i_2, i_3, i_4\}$ becomes unresolved. The momentum $i_5 = l_4$ is always unaffected by the mapping. The precise definition of the resulting momenta l_1, l_2, l_3 depends on the mapping. In the first step of the two-step mapping $\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{B}}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$ we



Figure 5: $\mathcal{F}_{C}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}(i_1, i_2, i_3, i_4, i_5; j_1, j_2, j_3)$: one of the combined partons (here l_3) becomes unresolved between l_1 and l_2 in the second step.



Figure 6: $\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{K}}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}(i_1, i_2, i_3, i_4, i_5; j_1, j_2, j_3)$: i_3 is the shared hard radiator, $i_4 = l_2$ becomes unresolved between l_3 and l_4 in the second step.

have

$$l_{1} = x_{1} i_{1} + r_{1} i_{2} + z_{1} i_{4} \equiv \widetilde{i_{1} i_{2}}$$

$$l_{2} = i_{3}$$

$$l_{3} = (1 - x_{1}) i_{1} + (1 - r_{1}) i_{2} + (1 - z_{1}) i_{4} \equiv \widetilde{i_{4} i_{2}}$$

$$l_{4} = i_{5},$$
(3.4)

while for the mappings $\mathcal{F}_{C}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{K}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$, the first step is of the form

$$l_{1} = x_{1} i_{1} + r_{1} i_{2} + z_{1} i_{3} \equiv \widetilde{i_{1}i_{2}}$$

$$l_{2} = i_{4}$$

$$l_{3} = (1 - x_{1}) i_{1} + (1 - r_{1}) i_{2} + (1 - z_{1}) i_{3} \equiv \widetilde{i_{3}i_{2}}$$

$$l_{4} = i_{5} .$$
(3.5)

The momentum i_2 is always the unresolved one, denoted generically by i_u in the following. The two hard radiators denoted by i_a and i_b depend on the mapping. In $\mathcal{F}_{\rm B}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$, i_1 and i_4 are the hard radiators, while in $\mathcal{F}_{\rm C}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\rm K}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$, i_1 and i_3 are the hard radiators.

Note that mappings of type C apply to all configurations where one of the combined partons becomes unresolved in the second step, so they also include the cases where the roles of l_1 and l_3 are interchanged.

	Fi	irst step	þ	S	econd step	
Mapping type	i_u	i_a, i_b	i_s	l_u	l_a, l_b	l_s
В	i_2	i_1, i_4	i_3	l_2	l_1, l_3	l_4
С	i_2	i_1, i_3	i_4	l_3 or l_1	$(l_1 \text{ or } l_3), l_2$	l_4
K	i_2	i_1, i_3	i_4	l_2	l_3, l_4	l_1

Table 1: Identification of the unresolved, radiator and spectator momenta for both steps of the momentum mappings $\mathcal{F}_{B,C,K}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$.

The coefficients r_1, x_1, z_1 appearing in eqs. (3.4) and (3.5) are given by eq. (3.1),

$$r_{1} = \frac{s_{ub}}{s_{au} + s_{ub}}$$

$$x_{1} = \frac{1}{2(s_{au} + s_{ab})} \Big[(1+\rho) s_{aub} - 2 r_{1} s_{ub} \Big]$$

$$z_{1} = \frac{1}{2(s_{ub} + s_{ab})} \Big[(1-\rho) s_{aub} - 2 r_{1} s_{au} \Big]$$

$$\rho = \left[1 + \frac{4 r_{1}(1-r_{1}) s_{au} s_{ub}}{s_{ab} s_{aub}} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.6)

where now $s_{ub} = (i_u + i_b)^2$ etc.

In the second step, one of the intermediate partons $\{l_1, l_2, l_3\}$ becomes unresolved. The resulting momenta j_1, j_2, j_3 are defined as

$$j_1 = x_2 l_a + r_2 l_u + z_2 l_b \equiv \widetilde{l_a l_u}$$
(3.7)

$$j_2 = (1 - x_2) l_a + (1 - r_2) l_u + (1 - z_2) l_b \equiv \widetilde{l_b l_u}$$
(3.8)

 $j_3 = l_r$,

where again l_u denotes the momentum which is unresolved in the second step, l_a, l_b are the radiators and l_r does not take part in the second recombination step. The coefficients r_2, x_2, z_2 are defined analogously to eq. (3.6), where now $s_{ub} = (l_u + l_b)^2$ etc.

The combination of antenna functions associated with the repeated unresolved singularity is thus

$$X^{0}(i_{a}, i_{u}, i_{b})Y^{0}(l_{a}, l_{u}, l_{b})$$
(3.9)

as indicated in figures 4–6 where X^0 and Y^0 generically stand for three-particle tree antenna functions. The identification of the radiator and unresolved momenta i_a, \ldots, l_b for the different mappings $\mathcal{F}_{B,C,K}^{(5\to 4\to 3)}$ can be read off from table 1 and is also illustrated in figures 4– 6.

3.3 Decomposition of antenna functions into sub-antennae

The antenna phase space mappings require two uniquely identified hard radiator momenta and an ordered emission of the unresolved partons.

With the antenna functions of [32], it is not always possible to uniquely identify the hard momenta, especially if more than one final state parton is a gluon. Moreover, in the

four-parton antenna functions (containing two unresolved partons) at subleading colour, the emission is not colour-ordered. It was already outlined in [32] that in both these cases, a further decomposition of the antenna functions into different sub-antennae configurations is required.

The tree-level three-parton antenna functions $D_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g)$ (quark-gluon-gluon) and $F_3^0(1_g, 2_g, 3_g)$ (gluon-gluon-gluon) contain more than one antenna configuration, since each gluon can become unresolved. Their decomposition was discussed in [32], it reads:

$$D_3^0(1,3,4) = d_3^0(1,3,4) + d_3^0(1,4,3) , \qquad (3.10)$$

$$F_3^0(1,2,3) = f_3^0(1,3,2) + f_3^0(3,2,1) + f_3^0(2,1,3) , \qquad (3.11)$$

with

$$d_3^0(1,3,4) = \frac{1}{s_{134}^2} \left(\frac{2s_{134}^2 s_{14}}{s_{13} s_{34}} + \frac{s_{14} s_{34} + s_{34}^2}{s_{13}} + \frac{s_{13} s_{14}}{s_{34}} + \frac{5}{2} s_{134} + \frac{1}{2} s_{34} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) , (3.12)$$

$$f_3^0(1,3,2) = \frac{1}{s_{123}^2} \left(2\frac{s_{123}^2 s_{12}}{s_{13} s_{23}} + \frac{s_{12} s_{13}}{s_{23}} + \frac{s_{12} s_{23}}{s_{13}} + \frac{s_{12} s_{23}}{s_{13}} + \frac{s_{12} s_{23}}{s_{13}} + \frac{s_{12} s_{23}}{s_{13}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right)$$
(3.13)

With this decomposition, the sub-antennae $d_3^0(i, j, k)$ and $f_3^0(i, j, k)$ contain only a soft singularity associated with gluon j, and collinear singularities $i \parallel j$ and $k \parallel j$, such that i and k can be identified as hard radiators. Soft singularities associated with i or k and the collinear singularity $i \parallel k$, which were present in the full antenna functions, are now contained in different sub-antennae, obtained by permutations of the momenta. Therefore, each sub-antenna can have a unique phase space mapping $(i, j, k) \to (ij, kj)$.

The one-loop three-parton antenna functions $D_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 4_g)$ (quark-gluon-gluon) and $F_3^1(1_g, 2_g, 3_g)$ (gluon-gluon-gluon) can be decomposed according to the same pattern, exploiting the fact that each can be written as a function proportional to its tree-level counterpart plus a function which is not singular in any unresolved limit.

The decomposition of tree-level four-parton antenna functions is more involved, especially since both single and double unresolved limits have to be accounted for properly. It turns out to be very useful to introduce the following combinations of three-parton antenna functions:

$$Q_3^0(1,3,2) = d_3^0(1,3,2) - A_3^0(1,3,2) ,$$

$$R_3^0(1,3,2) = Q_3^0(1,3,2) - Q_3^0(1,2,3)$$

$$S_3^0(1,3,2) = Q_3^0(1,3,2) + Q_3^0(1,2,3) + E_3^0(1,3,2) .$$
(3.14)

None of these contains any soft limit or collinear $1 \parallel i$ limit. Only Q_3^0 and R_3^0 contain a $2 \parallel 3$ limit, while S_3^0 is also finite in this limit, owing to the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry relation between the tree-level splitting functions,

$$P_{q\bar{q}\to G}(z) + P_{gg\to G}(z) = P_{qg\to Q}(z) + P_{qg\to Q}(1-z) .$$
(3.15)

Among the tree-level four-parton antenna functions, only $\tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}})$ (quarkgluon-gluon-antiquark at subleading colour), $D_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 5_g)$ (quark-gluon-gluon-gluon), $E_4^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 5_g)$ (quark-quark-antiquark-gluon at leading colour), $F_4^0(1_g, 2_g, 3_g, 4_g)$ (gluon-gluon-gluon-gluon) as well as $G_4^0(1_g, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_g)$ and $\tilde{G}_4^0(1_g, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_g)$ (gluon-quark-antiquark-gluon at leading and subleading colour) must be decomposed into sub-antennae. In the context of the three-jet calculation discussed here, F_4^0 , G_4^0 and \tilde{G}_4^0 do not contribute and will not be discussed further.

The decomposition of $\tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}})$ is needed because both gluons can become collinear either with quark 1_q or with antiquark $2_{\bar{q}}$. The two possible phase space mappings are of the $\mathcal{F}^{(5\to3)}$ type described in section 3.2.1

(a):
$$(1,3,4,2) \rightarrow (\widetilde{134},\widetilde{243})$$
 (b): $(1,4,3,2) \rightarrow (\widetilde{143},\widetilde{234})$

each allow only gluons adjacent to quark or antiquark to become collinear. To disentangle the different sub-antennae, it is sufficient to partial-fraction the antenna function in the different collinear denominators, as done in [32]. With these, we decompose

$$\tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,2) = \tilde{A}_{4,a}^{0}(1,3,4,2) + \tilde{A}_{4,b}^{0}(1,3,4,2), \qquad (3.16)$$

with

$$\tilde{A}^{0}_{4,a}(1,3,4,2) = \tilde{a}^{0}_{4}(1,3,4,2) + \tilde{a}^{0}_{4}(2,4,3,1) ,
\tilde{A}^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,2) = \tilde{A}^{0}_{4,a}(1,4,3,2) ,$$
(3.17)

where $\tilde{a}_{4}^{0}(i, j, k, l)$ contains only singularities for $i \parallel j$ or $k \parallel l$ and was defined in [32]. With this decomposition, $\tilde{A}_{4,a}^{0}(1, 3, 4, 2)$ contains only $1 \parallel 3$ and $2 \parallel 4$ singularities, and can be used with the $(1, 3, 4, 2) \rightarrow (\widetilde{134}, \widetilde{243})$ mapping. Since this decomposition is straightforward, we refrain from spelling it out explicitly in the subtraction terms presented in subsequent sections.

The leading-colour quark-quark-antiquark-gluon antenna function $E_4^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 5_g)$ contains limits where either the quark-antiquark pair $(3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'})$ or the gluon 5_g can become soft. Since these limits yield different hard radiator partons, they can not be accounted for in a single phase space mapping, but require two separate $\mathcal{F}^{(5\to3)}$ mappings:

(a): $(1,3,4,5) \rightarrow (\widetilde{134},\widetilde{543})$, (b): $(1,5,4,3) \rightarrow (\widetilde{154},\widetilde{345})$.

By analysing the different triple and single collinear limits of E_4^0 , one finds the following decomposition:

$$E_{4,a}^{0}(1,3,4,5) = B_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,5) + E_{3}^{0}(5,4,3) Q_{3}^{0}(1,(34),(54)) , \qquad (3.18)$$

$$E_{4,b}^{0}(1,3,4,5) = E_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,5) - E_{4,a}^{0}(1,3,4,5) .$$
(3.19)

After this decomposition, $E_{4,a}^0$ can be used with mapping (a) and $E_{4,b}^0$ with mapping (b). The above decomposition also ensures a well-defined behaviour in all double and single unresolved limits (see [32] for a definition of the splitting factors):

$$E^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_{q'} \to 0, 4_{\overline{q'}} \to 0} S_{15}(3,4)$$

$$\begin{split} E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_{q'} ||4_{\bar{q}'},5_{g} \to 0} S_{1;543}(z) \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{q\bar{q} \to G}(z) , \\ E^{0}_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_{q} ||3_{q'} ||4_{\bar{q}'}} P_{134 \to Q}^{\text{non-ident.}}(w,x,y) , \\ E^{0}_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) + E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_{q'} ||4_{\bar{q}'} ||5_{g}} P_{543 \to G}(w,x,y) , \\ E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_{q} ||5_{g},3_{q'} ||4_{\bar{q}'}} \frac{1}{s_{34}s_{15}} P_{qg \to Q}(z) P_{q\bar{q} \to G}(y) , \quad (3.20) \\ E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{5_{g} \to 0} S_{154} E^{0}_{3}(1,3,4) , \\ E^{0}_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_{q'} ||4_{\bar{q}'}} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{q\bar{q} \to G}(z) d^{0}_{3}(1,(34),5) + \text{ang.} , \\ E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_{q'} ||4_{\bar{q}'}} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{q\bar{q} \to G}(z) d^{0}_{3}(1,5,(34)) + \text{ang.} , \\ E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_{q} ||5_{g}}} \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \to Q}(z) E^{0}_{3}((15),3,4) , \\ E^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_{\bar{q}'} ||5_{g}}} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{qg \to Q}(z) E^{0}_{3}(1,3,(45)) , \quad (3.21) \end{split}$$

while all other limits are zero. It can be seen that only the triple collinear $3 \parallel 4 \parallel 5$ and the single collinear $3 \parallel 4$ limits receive contributions from both phase space mappings. This is unavoidable, since both these limits match onto the double soft $(3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \rightarrow 0$ and the soft 5_g limits, which belong to different mappings.

The decomposition of the quark-gluon-gluon-gluon antenna function $D_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 5_g)$, is more involved, since any pair of two gluons can become soft. We consider four different $\mathcal{F}^{(5\to3)}$ mappings:

$$\begin{array}{ll} (a): \ (1,3,4,5) \to (\widehat{134}, \widetilde{543}) \,, & (b): \ (1,5,4,3) \to (\widehat{154}, \widetilde{345}) \,, \\ (c): \ (1,3,5,4) \to (\widehat{135}, \widetilde{453}) \,, & (d): \ (1,5,3,4) \to (\widehat{153}, \widetilde{435}) \,. \end{array}$$

The numerous different double and single unresolved limits of this antenna function can be disentangled very elegantly by repeatedly exploiting the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry relation [37] among the different triple collinear splitting functions [37, 35, 50]. Using this relation, one can show that the following left-over combination is finite in all single unresolved and double unresolved limits:

$$D_{4,l}^{0}(1,3,4,5) = D_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,5) - \left[A_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,5) + A_{4}^{0}(1,5,4,3) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\tilde{E}_{4}^{0}(1,3,5,4) + \tilde{E}_{4}^{0}(1,5,3,4)\right) + \tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1,3,5,4) - E_{4}^{0}(1,5,4,3) + B_{4}^{0}(1,5,4,3) + C_{4}^{0}(1,4,5,3) - E_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,5) + B_{4}^{0}(1,3,4,5) + C_{4}^{0}(1,4,3,5) + A_{3}^{0}(1,3,4) S_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(13)}, \widetilde{(43)}, 5) + A_{3}^{0}(1,5,4) S_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(15)}, \widetilde{(45)}, 3) + A_{3}^{0}(3,4,5) S_{3}^{0}(1, \widetilde{(54)}, \widetilde{(34)})\right].$$

$$(3.22)$$

Starting from the terms in this expression, the following sub-antennae can be constructed:

$$\begin{split} D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) &= \frac{1}{2} D^0_{4,l}(1,3,4,5) + A^0_4(1,3,4,5) - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{E}^0_4(1,3,5,4) \\ &\quad + A^0_3(1,3,4) \, S^0_3(\widetilde{(13)},\widetilde{(43)},5) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} A^0_3(3,4,5) \, \left(S^0_3(1,\widetilde{(54)},\widetilde{(34)}) - R^0_3(1,\widetilde{(54)},\widetilde{(34)}) \right) \\ &\quad - E^0_3(5,4,3) Q^0_3(1,\widetilde{(54)},\widetilde{(34)}) - A^0_3(1,3,4) \, E^0_3(\widetilde{(13)},\widetilde{(43)},5) \\ &\quad - A^0_3(1,3,4) \, Q^0_3(\widetilde{(13)},5,\widetilde{(43)}) \, , \end{split}$$

$$D_{4,c}^{0}(1,3,4,5) = \tilde{A}_{4,a}^{0}(1,3,5,4) - E_{4}^{0}(1,5,4,3) + B_{4}^{0}(1,5,4,3) + C_{4}^{0}(1,4,5,3) + E_{3}^{0}(5,4,3)Q_{3}^{0}(1,(\widetilde{54}),(\widetilde{34})) + A_{3}^{0}(1,3,4)E_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{13}),(\widetilde{43}),5) + a_{3}^{0}(1,3,4)Q_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{13}),5,(\widetilde{43})) + a_{3}^{0}(4,5,1)Q_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{15}),3,(\widetilde{45})) , D_{4,d}^{0}(1,3,4,5) = D_{4,c}^{0}(1,5,4,3) .$$

$$(3.23)$$

With this decomposition, each $D_{4,i}^0$ contains only singularities appropriate to phase space mapping (i). The sum of the $D_{4,i}^0$ adds to D_4^0 :

$$D_{4,a}^0 + D_{4,b}^0 + D_{4,c}^0 + D_{4,d}^0 = D_4^0 , \qquad (3.24)$$

such that only D_4^0 must be integrated analytically over the antenna phase space.

The above decomposition disentangles the different double and single unresolved limits:

$$\begin{split} D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_g \to 0,4_g \to 0} S_{1345}, \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g \to 0,5_g \to 0} S_{1543}, \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_g \to 0,5_g \to 0} S_{134} S_{154}, \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||5_g,3_g \to 0} S_{4;315}(z) \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \to Q}(1-z), \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g,3_g \to 0} S_{1;345}(z) \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{gg \to Q}(z), \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||3_g,4_g \to 0} S_{5;431}(z) \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \to Q}(z), \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||3_g,4_g \to 0} S_{3;451}(z) \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \to Q}(z), \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||3_g,4_g \to 0} S_{4;513}(z) \frac{1}{s_{13}} P_{qg \to Q}(1-z), \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||3_g||4_g} P_{154 \to Q}(w,x,y), \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||5_g||4_g} P_{135 \to Q}(w,x,y), \\ D^0_{4}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_g ||4_g||5_g} P_{345 \to G}(w,x,y), \\ D^0_{4}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_g ||4_g||5_g} P_{345 \to G}(w,x,y), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||3_g,4_g||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{13}s_{45}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) P_{gg \rightarrow G}(y) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_q ||5_g,3_g||4_g} \frac{1}{s_{15}s_{34}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) P_{gg \rightarrow G}(y) , \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_g \rightarrow 0} S_{134} d^3_3(1,4,5) , \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) + D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{3_g \rightarrow 0} S_{134} d^3_3(1,5,4) , \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g \rightarrow 0} S_{345} d^3_3(1,3,5) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g \rightarrow 0} S_{154} d^3_3(1,4,3) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{5_g \rightarrow 0} S_{154} d^3_3(1,3,4) , \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||3_g} \frac{1}{s_{13}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) d^3_3((13),4,5) , \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||3_g} \frac{1}{s_{13}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) d^3_3((13),5,4) , \\ D^0_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||3_g} \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) d^3_3((15),4,3) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||3_g} \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) d^3_3((15),4,3) , \\ D^0_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||4_g} \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) d^3_3((15),4,3) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||4_g} \frac{1}{s_{15}} P_{qg \rightarrow Q}(z) d^3_3((15),4,3) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||4_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||4_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,5,4) , \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{1_g ||4_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,5,3) + \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,5,3) + \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,5,3) + \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,5,3) + \\ D^0_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{34}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,5,3) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4,5) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4,5) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4,5) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4,5) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4,5) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P_{gg \rightarrow G}(z) d^3_3(1,3,4,5) + \\ D^0_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) \xrightarrow{4_g ||5_g} \frac{1}{s_{45}} P$$

All other limits are vanishing. It can be seen that certain limits are shared among several antenna functions, which can be largely understood due to two reasons:

- 1. in a gluon-gluon collinear splitting, either gluon can become soft, and the gluon-gluon splitting function is always shared between two sub-antennae, as in (3.10), (3.11) to disentangle the two soft limits.
- 2. the unresolved emission of gluons 3_g and 5_g is shared between the mappings (c) and (d) according to the decomposition of the non-ordered antenna function \tilde{A}_4^0 , which distributes the soft limit of either gluon between both mappings.

3.4 Angular terms

The angular terms in the single unresolved limits are associated with a gluon splitting into two gluons or into a quark-antiquark pair. They average to zero after integration over the antenna phase space. To ensure numerical stability and reliability, this average has to take place within each phase space mapping. We have checked this to be the case for the above decompositions of E_4^0 and D_4^0 . The angular average in single collinear limits can be made using the standard momentum parametrisation [10, 51] for the $i \parallel j$ limit:

$$p_i^{\mu} = zp^{\mu} + k_{\perp}^{\mu} - \frac{k_{\perp}^2}{z} \frac{n^{\mu}}{2p \cdot n} , \qquad p_j^{\mu} = (1-z)p^{\mu} - k_{\perp}^{\mu} - \frac{k_{\perp}^2}{1-z} \frac{n^{\mu}}{2p \cdot n}$$

with $2p_i \cdot p_j = -\frac{k_{\perp}^2}{z(1-z)} , \qquad p^2 = n^2 = 0$.

In this p^{μ} denotes the collinear momentum direction, and n^{μ} is an auxiliary vector. The collinear limit is approached by $k_{\perp}^2 \to 0$.

In the simple collinear $i \parallel j$ limit of the four-parton antenna functions $X_4^0(i, j, k, l)$, one chooses $n = p_k$ to be one of the non-collinear momenta, such that the antenna function can be expressed in terms of p, n, k_{\perp} and p_l . Expanding in k_{\perp}^{μ} yields only non-vanishing scalar products of the form $p_l \cdot k_{\perp}$. Expressing the integral over the antenna phase space in the (p, n) centre-of-mass frame, the angular average can be carried out as

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left(p_l \cdot k_\perp \right) = 0 , \qquad \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left(p_l \cdot k_\perp \right)^2 = -k_\perp^2 \frac{p \cdot p_l \, n \cdot p_l}{p \cdot n} . \tag{3.26}$$

Higher powers of k_{\perp}^{μ} are not sufficiently singular to contribute to the collinear limit. Using the above average, we could analytically verify the cancellation of angular terms within each single phase space mapping, which is independent on the choice of the reference vector n_{μ} .

An angular average is also required for the cancellation of $1/\epsilon$ -poles in the four-parton one-loop subtraction terms in the N^2 and N^0 colour factors. In either of these colour factors, one finds that the difference $d\sigma_{NNLO}^{V,1} - d\sigma_{NNLO}^{VS,1}$ contains left-over poles of the form

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon^2} X_3^0(1,i,2) Y_3^0(\tilde{1}i,j,\tilde{2}i) J_3^{(3)}(\tilde{1}i,j,\tilde{2}i) \left\{ s_{\tilde{1}ij}^{-\epsilon} + s_{\tilde{2}ij}^{-\epsilon} - s_{1j}^{-\epsilon} - s_{2j}^{-\epsilon} - s_{1i2}^{-\epsilon} + s_{12}^{-\epsilon} \right\} , \qquad (3.27)$$

where X_3^0 and Y_3^0 are tree-level three-parton antenna functions. Expanding this in ϵ , one finds that only the $1/\epsilon^2$ poles cancel, while the $1/\epsilon$ -pole is as follows:

$$X_3^0(1,i,2) Y_3^0(\widetilde{1}i,j,\widetilde{2}i) J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{1}i,j,\widetilde{2}i) \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(\log \frac{s_{1j}s_{2j}}{s_{12}} - \log \frac{s_{\widetilde{1}ij}s_{\widetilde{2}ij}}{s_{1i2}} \right) .$$
(3.28)

The finite ϵ^0 -contribution from (3.28) is also non-vanishing, and has precisely the form required to ensure proper subtraction of all soft and collinear limits in $d\sigma_{NNLO}^{V,1} - d\sigma_{NNLO}^{VS,1}$.

To ensure full cancellation of the $1/\epsilon$ -poles, one has to show that (3.28) vanishes already after integration over the antenna phase space of (1, i, 2), since all other momenta appear in the jet definition. The second term in the bracket integrates just to a constant, since it does not depend on (1, i, 2), while the first term is a lot more tricky because it combines integration momenta (1, 2) with the fixed momentum j.

To carry out this integration, we work in a frame where the z-axis is defined by the momenta $(\tilde{1}i)$ and $(\tilde{2}i)$. The momentum p_j can be chosen in the (x, z)-plane. We fix p_1 to be along the direction of $p_{\tilde{1}i}$, the angle between p_1 and p_2 (p_j) is called Θ_2 (Θ_j) , and

LO	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} g$	tree level
NLO	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} g$	one loop
	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} gg$	tree level
	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} q \bar{q}$	tree level
NNLO	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} g$	two loop
	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} gg$	one loop
	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} q \bar{q}$	one loop
	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} q \bar{q} g$	tree level
	$\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} g g g$	tree level
	$\gamma^* \to ggg$	$(one \ loop)^2$
1		

Table 2: The partonic channels contributing to $e^+e^- \rightarrow 3$ jets.

the polar angle of p_2 is ϕ_2 . The antenna functions do not depend on the orientation of the (1, i, 2) phase space in the $(\tilde{1}i)$, $(\tilde{2}i)$ frame, and are therefore independent of ϕ_2 . If $\Theta_2 \ge \Theta_j$, we boost along the z-direction to a frame where $p_{j,z} = 0$, while for $\Theta_2 < \Theta_j$, we boost to a frame where $p_{2,z} = 0$. This boost leaves the second term in (3.28) invariant:

$$\log \frac{s_{\tilde{1}ij}s_{\tilde{2}ij}}{s_{1i2}} = \log E_{j,T}^2 = \log E_{j,T}^{\prime 2}, \qquad (3.29)$$

whereas the first term becomes either $(\Theta_2 \ge \Theta_j)$:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi_2' \log \frac{s_{1j} s_{2j}}{s_{12}} = \log E_{j,T}'^2 + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi_2' \log \left(\frac{2(1 - \sin \Theta_2' \cos \phi_2')}{1 - \cos \Theta_2'}\right) \\ = \log E_{j,T}'^2 , \qquad (3.30)$$

or $(\Theta_2 < \Theta_j)$:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi_2' \log \frac{s_{1j} s_{2j}}{s_{12}} = \log E_{j,T}'^2 + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi_2' \log \left(2\left(1 - \cos\Theta_j'\right)\left(1 - \cos\phi_2'\sin\Theta_j'\right)\right) \\ = \log E_{j,T}'^2 , \qquad (3.31)$$

such that in either case the sum of both terms in (3.28) exactly cancels after averaging over ϕ'_2 .

4. Parton-level contributions to $e^+e^- \rightarrow 3$ jets up to NNLO

Three-jet production at tree-level is induced by the decay of a virtual photon (or other neutral gauge boson) into a quark-antiquark-gluon final state. At higher orders, this process receives corrections from extra real or virtual particles. The individual partonic channels that contribute through to NNLO are shown in table 2.

According to the structure of the coupling to the external vector boson, one distinguishes non-singlet and singlet contributions. The non-singlet contributions arise from the interference of amplitudes where the external gauge boson couples to the same quark lines, while the pure singlet contribution is due to the interference of amplitudes where the external gauge boson couples to different quark lines. Up to NLO, only non-singlet contributions appear. It is only at NNLO, that the first non-vanishing singlet terms are allowed. These appear in the tree-level $\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} q \bar{q} g$ process, the one-loop $\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} g g$ and $\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} q \bar{q} \bar{q}$ processes and the two-loop $\gamma^* \to q \bar{q} g g$ process. All these processes yield both non-singlet and singlet contributions. The $\gamma^* \to ggg$ process, which is mediated by a closed quark loop, is entirely a singlet contribution. In four-jet observables at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$, the singlet contributions were found to be extremely small [52]. Also, the singlet contribution from three-gluon final states to three-jet observables was found to be negligible [53].

Matrix elements and subtraction terms at NLO and NNLO can be naturally decomposed according to their colour structure. The cross section at NLO receives contributions from three different colour factors:

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO} = d\sigma_{\rm NLO,N} + d\sigma_{\rm NLO,1/N} + d\sigma_{\rm NLO,N_F} .$$
(4.1)

The NNLO contribution to the cross section receives contributions from seven different colour factors:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO}} = d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^2} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^0} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},1/N^2} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F N} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F/N} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F^2} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_{F,\gamma}} .$$
(4.2)

The first six terms in this equation are non-singlet contributions, the last term is the numerically unimportant singlet contribution.

In the following, we list the matrix elements for the contributing partonic channels shown in table 2 and discuss their structure.

4.1 Tree-level matrix elements for up to five partons

The tree-level amplitude $M^0_{q\bar{q}(n-2)g}$ for a virtual photon to produce a quark-antiquark pair and (n-2)-gluons,

$$\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)g(p_3)\dots g(p_n)$$

can be expressed as sum over the permutations of the colour ordered amplitude $\mathcal{M}^{0}_{A,n}$ of the possible orderings for the gluon colour indices

$$M^{0}_{q\bar{q}(n-2)g} = ie(\sqrt{2}g)^{n-2} \sum_{(i,\dots,k)\in P(3,\dots,n)} \left(T^{a_i}\cdots T^{a_n}\right)_{i_1i_2} \mathcal{M}^{0}_{A,n}(p_1,p_3,\dots,p_n,p_2) .$$
(4.3)

The squared matrix elements for n = 3, ..., 5, summed over gluon polarisations, but excluding symmetry factors for identical particles, are given by,

$$\left|M_{q\bar{q}g}^{0}\right|^{2} = N_{3} A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}), \qquad (4.4)$$

$$\left|M_{q\bar{q}gg}^{0}\right|^{2} = N_{4} \left[\sum_{(i,j)\in P(3,4)} NA_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{N}\tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}})\right], \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\left| M_{q\bar{q}ggg}^{0} \right|^{2} = N_{5} \left[\sum_{(i,j,k)\in P(3,4,5)} \left(N^{2} A_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \tilde{A}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right) + \left(\frac{N^{2}+1}{N^{2}} \right) \bar{A}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right],$$

$$(4.6)$$

where,

$$N_n = 4\pi\alpha \sum_{q} e_q^2 \left(g^2\right)^{(n-2)} \left(N^2 - 1\right) \left|\mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0\right|^2,$$
(4.7)

and

$$\left|\mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0}\right|^{2} = 4(1-\epsilon)q^{2}.$$
(4.8)

The squared colour-ordered matrix elements A_3^0 , A_4^0 and \tilde{A}_4^0 are given in [32]. For the five parton case [54],

$$A_5^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, k_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0 \right|^2 = \left| \mathcal{M}_{A,5}^0(p_1, p_i, p_j, p_k, p_2) \right|^2$$
(4.9)

$$\tilde{A}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = \left| \mathcal{M}_{A,5}^{0}(p_{1}, p_{i}, p_{j}, p_{k}, p_{2}) \right|^{2}$$

$$(4.10)$$

$$+\mathcal{M}_{A,5}^{0}(p_{1},p_{i},p_{k},p_{j},p_{2}) + \mathcal{M}_{A,5}^{0}(p_{1},p_{k},p_{i},p_{j},p_{2}) \bigg| ,$$

$$\bar{A}_{5}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},k_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \left|\mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0}\right|^{2} = \left|\sum_{(i,j,k)\in P(3,...,5)} \mathcal{M}_{A,5}^{0}(p_{1},p_{i},p_{j},p_{k},p_{2})\right|^{2} .$$
(4.11)

In the subleading colour contribution \tilde{A}_5^0 , gluon k is effectively photon-like, while in the subsubleading colour contribution (also called Abelian contribution), \bar{A}_5^0 , all three gluons are effectively photon-like. Photon-like gluons do not couple to three- and four-gluon vertices, and there are no simple collinear limits as any two photon-like gluons become collinear. As a consequence, the only colour-connected pair in \bar{A}_5^0 are the quark and antiquark.

The tree-level amplitude for

$$\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)q'(p_3)\bar{q}'(p_4)$$

is given by

$$M^{0}_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'} = ie_{1}g^{2}\delta_{q_{1}q_{2}}\delta_{q_{3}q_{4}} \left(\delta_{i_{1}i_{4}}\delta_{i_{3}i_{2}} - \frac{1}{N}\delta_{i_{1}i_{2}}\delta_{i_{3}i_{4}}\right)\mathcal{M}^{0}_{B,4}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) + (1 \leftrightarrow 3, 2 \leftrightarrow 4), \qquad (4.12)$$

where $\delta_{q_1q_2}\delta_{q_3q_4}$ indicates the quark flavours. The amplitude $\mathcal{M}^0_{B,4}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4)$ thus denotes the contribution from the $q_1\bar{q}_2$ -pair coupling to the vector boson. The identical quark amplitude is obtained

$$M^{0}_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}} = M^{0}_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'} - (2 \leftrightarrow 4).$$
(4.13)

The resulting four-quark squared matrix elements, summed over final state quark flavours and including symmetry factors are given by

$$\begin{split} \left| M_{4q}^{0} \right|^{2} &= \sum_{q,q'} \left| M_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'} \right|^{2} + \sum_{q} \left| M_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}} \right|^{2} \\ &= N_{4} \left[N_{F} B_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{N} \left(C_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + C_{4}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 1_{q}) \right) \\ &+ N_{F,\gamma} \hat{B}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right], \end{split}$$

$$(4.14)$$

where

$$B_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = \left| \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) \right|^{2},$$

$$C_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = -\operatorname{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{3}, p_{2}) \right), \quad (4.15)$$

$$\hat{B}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = \operatorname{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{1}, p_{2}) \right).$$
(4.16)

Explicit expressions for B_4^0 and C_4^0 are given in [32]. The last term, \hat{B}_4^0 , is proportional to the charge weighted sum of the quark flavours, $N_{F,\gamma}$, which for electromagnetic interactions is given by,

$$N_{F,\gamma} = \frac{(\sum_{q} e_{q})^{2}}{\sum_{q} e_{q}^{2}}.$$
(4.17)

It is relevant only for observables where the final state quark charge can be determined.

There are four colour structures in the tree-level amplitude for

$$\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)q'(p_3)\bar{q}'(p_4)g(p_5)$$

which reads

$$M_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g} = ie_1 g^3 \sqrt{2} \delta_{q_1 q_2} \delta_{q_3 q_4} \\ \times \left[T^{a_5}_{i_1 i_4} \delta_{i_3 i_2} \mathcal{M}^{0,a}_{B,5}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) - \frac{1}{N} T^{a_5}_{i_1 i_2} \delta_{i_3 i_4} \mathcal{M}^{0,c}_{B,5}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) \right. \\ \left. + T^{a_5}_{i_3 i_2} \delta_{i_1 i_4} \mathcal{M}^{0,b}_{B,5}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) - \frac{1}{N} T^{a_5}_{i_3 i_4} \delta_{i_1 i_2} \mathcal{M}^{0,d}_{B,5}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) \right] \\ \left. + (1 \leftrightarrow 3, 2 \leftrightarrow 4) .$$

$$(4.18)$$

The amplitude $\mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,x}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5)$ for $x = a, \ldots, d$ denotes the contribution from the $q_1\bar{q}_2$ -pair coupling to the vector boson. Due to the colour decomposition, the following relation holds between the leading and subleading colour amplitudes:

$$\mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,e}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) = \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,a}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) + \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,b}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) = \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,c}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) + \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,d}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5) .$$
(4.19)

As before, the identical quark matrix element is obtained by permuting the antiquark momenta,

$$M^{0}_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}g} = M^{0}_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g} - (2 \leftrightarrow 4).$$
(4.20)

The squared matrix element, summed over flavours and including symmetry factors is given by,

$$\begin{split} \left| M_{4qg}^{0} \right|^{2} &= \sum_{q,q'} \left| M_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g} \right|^{2} + \sum_{q} \left| M_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}g} \right|^{2} \tag{4.21} \\ &= N_{5} \left[NN_{F} \left(B_{5}^{0,a}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + B_{5}^{0,b}(1_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right) \\ &+ \frac{N_{F}}{N} \left(B_{5}^{0,c}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + B_{5}^{0,d}(1_{q}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) - 2B_{5}^{0,e}(1_{q}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 5_{g}) \right) \\ &- C_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \left(\frac{N^{2} + 1}{N^{2}} \right) \left(\tilde{C}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \tilde{C}_{5}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 5_{g}, 1_{q}) \right) \\ &- NN_{F,\gamma} \left(\hat{B}_{5}^{0,a}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \hat{B}_{5}^{0,b}(1_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \hat{B}_{5}^{0,e}(1_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 2_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}) \right) \\ &+ \frac{N_{F,\gamma}}{N} \left(\hat{B}_{5}^{0,c}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + \hat{B}_{5}^{0,d}(1_{q}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + \hat{B}_{5}^{0,e}(1_{q}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 5_{g}) \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where for $x = a, \ldots, e$

$$B_5^{0,x}(\ldots) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0 \right|^2 = |\mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,x}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, p_5)|^2, \tag{4.22}$$

$$\hat{B}_{5}^{0,x}(\ldots) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = \operatorname{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,x}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,x,\dagger}(p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{5}) \right), \quad (4.23)$$

and

$$C_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| M_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = -2 \operatorname{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,a}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,c,\dagger}(p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{3}, p_{2}, p_{5}) \right. \\ \left. + \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,b}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,d,\dagger}(p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{3}, p_{2}, p_{5}) \right. \\ \left. + \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,a}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,d,\dagger}(p_{3}, p_{2}, p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \right. \\ \left. + \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,b}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,c,\dagger}(p_{3}, p_{2}, p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \right. \\ \left. + \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,b}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,c,\dagger}(p_{3}, p_{2}, p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \right) \right),$$

$$\left. \left(4.24 \right)$$

$$\tilde{C}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| M_{q\bar{q}}^{0} \right|^{2} = -\text{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,e}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{5}) \mathcal{M}_{B,5}^{0,e,\dagger}(p_{1}, p_{4}, p_{3}, p_{2}, p_{5}) \right).$$
(4.25)

4.2 One-loop matrix elements for up to four partons

The renormalised one-loop amplitude $M^1_{q\bar{q}g}$ for a virtual photon to produce a quarkantiquark pair together with a single gluon,

 $\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)g(p_3)$

contains a single colour structure such that

$$M^{1}_{q\bar{q}g} = ie\sqrt{2}g\left(\frac{g^{2}}{16\pi^{2}}\right)T^{a_{3}}_{i_{1}i_{2}}\mathcal{M}^{1}_{A,3}(p_{1},p_{3},p_{2}).$$
(4.26)

Unless stated otherwise, the renormalisation scale is set to $\mu^2 = q^2$.

The interference of the one-loop amplitude with the three-parton tree-level amplitude (4.3) is given by

$$2\operatorname{Re}\left(M_{q\bar{q}g}^{0,\dagger}M_{q\bar{q}g}^{1}\right) = N_3\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right)A_3^{(1\times0)}(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}), \qquad (4.27)$$

where

$$A_{3}^{(1\times0)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) = \left(N \left[A_{3}^{1}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_{2}^{1}(s_{123})A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \right] - \frac{1}{N} \left[\tilde{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_{2}^{1}(s_{123})A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \right] + N_{F}\hat{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \right),$$

$$(4.28)$$

where A_3^1 , \tilde{A}_3^1 and \hat{A}_3^1 are given up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ in [32].

Moreover, the one-loop process $\gamma^* \to ggg$ also yields three-jet final states. Since this process has no tree-level counterpart, it does only contribute at NNLO. Its amplitude can be denoted as [53]

$$M_{ggg}^{1} = i \sum_{q} e_{q} \sqrt{2}g\left(\frac{g^{2}}{16\pi^{2}}\right) d^{a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}} \mathcal{M}_{C,3}^{1}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}) .$$
(4.29)

The one-loop corrections to $\gamma^* \to 4$ partons have been available for some time [21]. The one-loop amplitude for

$$\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)g(p_3)g(p_4)$$

contains two colour structures,

$$M_{q\bar{q}gg}^{1} = ie2g^{2} \left(\frac{g^{2}}{16\pi^{2}}\right) \\ \times \left[\sum_{(i,j)\in P(3,4)} \left(T^{a_{i}}T^{a_{j}}\right)_{i_{1}i_{2}} \left(N\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,a}(p_{1},p_{i},p_{j},p_{2}) - \frac{1}{N}\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,b}(p_{1},p_{i},p_{j},p_{2}) + N_{F}\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,c}(p_{1},p_{i},p_{j},p_{2}) + \frac{\sum_{q}e_{q}}{e}\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,e}(p_{1},p_{i},p_{j},p_{2})\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2}\delta^{a_{i}a_{j}}\delta_{i_{1}i_{2}}\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,d}(p_{1},p_{3},p_{4},p_{2})\right],$$

$$(4.30)$$

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,d}(p_1, p_3, p_4, p_2) = \mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,d}(p_1, p_4, p_3, p_2).$$
(4.31)

The "squared" matrix element is the interference between the tree-level and one-loop amplitudes,

$$2\left|M_{q\bar{q}gg}^{0,\dagger}M_{q\bar{q}gg}^{1}\right| = N_{4}\left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi}\right)\left[\sum_{(i,j)\in P(3,4)}\left(N^{2}A_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) - A_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + NN_{F}A_{4}^{1,c}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + NN_{F,\gamma}A_{4}^{1,e}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}})\right) - \left(\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) - \tilde{A}_{4}^{1,d}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{N^{2}}\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + \frac{N_{F}}{N}\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,c}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + \frac{N_{F,\gamma}}{N}\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,e}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}})\right)\right],$$

$$(4.32)$$

where for $x = a, \ldots, d$,

$$A_4^{1,x}(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0 \right|^2 = \operatorname{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_i, p_j, p_2) \mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_1, p_i, p_j, p_2) \right), \quad (4.33)$$

$$\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,x}(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0 \right|^2 = \operatorname{Re} \left(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{A,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_3, p_4, p_2) \tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{A,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_1, p_3, p_4, p_2) \right), \quad (4.34)$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{A,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_3, p_4, p_2) = \mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_3, p_4, p_2) + \mathcal{M}_{A,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_4, p_3, p_2).$$
(4.35)

The renormalised singularity structure of the various contributions can be easily written in terms of the tree-level squared matrix elements multiplied by combinations of infrared singularity operators [55], for which we use the notation defined in [32]. Explicitly, we find

$$\mathcal{P}oles(A_4^{1,a}(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{1i}) + \mathbf{I}_{gg}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{ij}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{j2})\right) A_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}), (4.36)$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(A_4^{1,0}(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{12})A_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}), \tag{4.37}$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(A_4^{1,c}(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{qg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{1i}) + \mathbf{I}_{gg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{ij}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q},F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{j2})\right) A_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}),$$
(4.38)

$$\mathcal{P}oles(\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}})) = \left(2\mathbf{I}_{gg}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{34}) + \mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{23}) + \mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{13}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{24})\right) \tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}),$$

$$(4.39)$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{12})\tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}),$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,c}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = \left(2\mathbf{I}_{gg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34}) + \mathbf{I}_{qg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q},F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23})\right)$$

$$= \left(2\mathbf{I}_{gg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q},F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q},F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23})\right)$$

$$= \left(2\mathbf{I}_{gg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q},F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34}) + \mathbf{I}_{g$$

$$+\mathbf{I}_{qg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{13}) + \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q},F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{24}) \right) \times \tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}), \qquad (4.41)$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(\tilde{A}_{4}^{1,d}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}})) = \left(2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{12}) + 2\mathbf{I}_{gg}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{34}) - \mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{14}) - \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{23}) - \mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{13}) - \mathbf{I}_{g\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{24})\right) \times \tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}).$$
(4.42)

As at tree-level, the one-loop amplitude for

$$\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)q'(p_3)\bar{q}'(p_4)$$

contains two colour structures,

$$M_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'}^{1} = ie_{1}g^{2} \left(\frac{g^{2}}{16\pi^{2}}\right) \delta_{q_{1}q_{2}} \delta_{q_{3}q_{4}} \left[\delta_{i_{1}i_{4}} \delta_{i_{3}i_{2}} \left(N\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,a}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) - \frac{1}{N} \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,b}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) + N_{F} \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,c}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) \right) - \frac{1}{N} \delta_{i_{1}i_{2}} \delta_{i_{3}i_{4}} \left(N\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,d}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) - \frac{1}{N} \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,e}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) + N_{F} \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,f}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) - \frac{1}{N} \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,e}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) + N_{F} \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,f}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}) \right] + (1 \leftrightarrow 3, 2 \leftrightarrow 4) , \qquad (4.43)$$

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,a}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) + \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,e}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,b}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) + \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,d}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4).$$
(4.44)

As before, the identical quark matrix element is obtained by permuting the antiquark momenta,

$$M^{1}_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}} = M^{1}_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'} - (2 \leftrightarrow 4).$$
(4.45)

Summing over flavours and including symmetry factors, we find that the "squared" matrix element, is given by

$$2 \left| M_{4q}^{0,\dagger} M_{4q}^{1} \right| = \sum_{q,q'} 2 \left| M_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'}^{0,\dagger} M_{q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'}^{1} \right| + \sum_{q} 2 \left| M_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}\bar{q}}^{0,\dagger} M_{q\bar{q}q\bar{q}}^{1} \right|$$

$$= N_{4} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi} \right) \left[NN_{F} B_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{N_{F}}{N} B_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + N_{F}^{2} B_{4}^{1,c}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right]$$

$$- C_{4}^{1,d}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \frac{1}{N^{2}} C_{4}^{1,e}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{N_{F}}{N} C_{4}^{1,f}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})$$

$$- C_{4}^{1,d}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 1_{q}) + \frac{1}{N^{2}} C_{4}^{1,e}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 1_{q}) - \frac{N_{F}}{N} C_{4}^{1,f}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 1_{q})$$

$$+ NN_{F,\gamma} \hat{B}_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{N_{F,\gamma}}{N} \hat{B}_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + N_{F} N_{F,\gamma} \hat{B}_{4}^{1,c}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right],$$

$$(4.46)$$

where for x = a, b, c

$$B_4^{1,x}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0 \right|^2 = \operatorname{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \right), \quad (4.47)$$

$$\hat{B}_{4}^{1,x}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}})\left|\mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^{0}\right|^{2} = \operatorname{Re}\left(\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,x}(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3},p_{4})\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_{3},p_{4},p_{1},p_{2})\right), \quad (4.48)$$

and for x = d, e, f

$$C_4^{1,x}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left| \mathcal{M}_{q\bar{q}}^0 \right|^2 = -\text{Re} \left(\mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{1,x}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \mathcal{M}_{B,4}^{0,\dagger}(p_1, p_4, p_3, p_2) \right).$$
(4.49)

Using the infrared singularity operators of [55], we can extract the singular contributions of the renormalised one-loop contribution as,

$$\mathcal{P}oles(B_4^{1,a}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23})\right) B_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}), \tag{4.50}$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(B_4^{1,b}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{14}) - 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{13}) + 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23}) - 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{24})\right)$$

$$+\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{12}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34}) \right) \times B_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}),$$
(4.51)

$$\mathcal{P}oles(C_4^{1,d}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{13}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{24})\right)C_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}),$$
(4.52)
$$\mathcal{P}oles(C_4^{1,e}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{a\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{12}) + \mathbf{I}_{a\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{a\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23}) + \mathbf{I}_{a\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34})\right)$$

$$Poles(C_4^{1,e}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{12}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{34}) - \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{13}) - \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{24})\right) \times C_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}),$$
(4.53)

$$\mathcal{P}oles(\hat{B}_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{14}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{23})\right)\hat{B}_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}),\tag{4.54}$$

$$\mathcal{P}oles(\hat{B}_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}})) = 2\left(2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{14}) - 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{13}) + 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{23}) - 2\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{24}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{12}) + \mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon,s_{34})\right) \times \hat{B}_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}).$$
(4.55)

4.3 Two-loop matrix elements for three partons

The renormalised two-loop amplitude $M_{q\bar{q}g}^2$ for a virtual photon to produce a quarkantiquark pair together with a single gluon,

$$\gamma^*(q) \to q(p_1)\bar{q}(p_2)g(p_3)$$

contains a single colour structure such that

$$M_{q\bar{q}g}^2 = ie\sqrt{2}g\left(\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}\right)^2 T_{i_1i_2}^{a_3}\mathcal{M}_{A,3}^2(p_1, p_3, p_2) .$$
(4.56)

At NNLO, there are two contributions. One from the interference of the two-loop and tree-level amplitudes (4.3), the other from the square of the one-loop amplitudes given in (4.26). These terms were computed in [18] by reducing the large number of two-loop Feynman integrals to a small number of master integrals, using integration-by-parts [56] and Lorentz-invariance [57] identities, solved using the Laporta algorithm [58]. The relevant master integrals (two-loop four-point functions with one off-shell leg) were then derived [59] from their differential equations [57, 60, 61].

The resulting virtual three-parton contributions are given by,

$$2\operatorname{Re}\left(M_{q\bar{q}g}^{0,\dagger}M_{q\bar{q}g}^{2}\right) = N_{3}\left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi}\right)^{2} A_{3}^{(2\times0)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}), \qquad (4.57)$$

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(M_{q\bar{q}g}^{1,\dagger}M_{q\bar{q}g}^{1}\right) = N_{3}\left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi}\right)^{2} A_{3}^{(1\times1)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}).$$
(4.58)

Following [55], we organise the infrared pole structure of the NNLO contributions renormalised in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme in terms of the tree and renormalised one-loop amplitudes such that,

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(A_{3}^{(2\times0)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}})+A_{3}^{(1\times1)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}})\right) = 2\left[-\left(\boldsymbol{I}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(1)}(\epsilon)\right)^{2}-\frac{\beta_{0}}{\epsilon}\boldsymbol{I}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(1)}(\epsilon) + e^{-\epsilon\gamma}\frac{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)}\left(\frac{\beta_{0}}{\epsilon}+K\right)\boldsymbol{I}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(1)}(2\epsilon)+\boldsymbol{H}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(2)}\right]A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + 2\boldsymbol{I}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(1)}(\epsilon)A_{3}^{(1\times0)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}}).$$
(4.59)

Here,

$$\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(1)}(\epsilon) = N\left(\mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{13}) + \mathbf{I}_{qg}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23})\right) - \frac{1}{N}\mathbf{I}_{q\bar{q}}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{12}) \\
+ N_F\left(\mathbf{I}_{qg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{13}) + \mathbf{I}_{qg,F}^{(1)}(\epsilon, s_{23})\right),$$
(4.60)

with the individual $\boldsymbol{I}_{ij}^{(1)}$ defined in [32] and

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{H}_{q\bar{q}g}^{(2)} &= \frac{e^{\epsilon\gamma}}{4\,\epsilon\,\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \left[\left(4\zeta_3 + \frac{589}{432} - \frac{11\pi^2}{72} \right) N^2 + \left(-\frac{1}{2}\zeta_3 - \frac{41}{54} - \frac{\pi^2}{48} \right) \right. \\ &+ \left(-3\zeta_3 - \frac{3}{16} + \frac{\pi^2}{4} \right) \frac{1}{N^2} + \left(-\frac{19}{18} + \frac{\pi^2}{36} \right) NN_F + \left(-\frac{1}{54} - \frac{\pi^2}{24} \right) \frac{N_F}{N} + \frac{5}{27}N_F^2. \end{aligned} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.61)$$

We denote the finite contributions as,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}inite(A_{3}^{(2\times0)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}})) &= N^{2}A_{3,N^{2}}^{(2\times0),finite} + A_{3,1}^{(2\times0),finite} + \frac{1}{N^{2}}A_{3,1/N^{2}}^{(2\times0),finite} \\ &+ NN_{F}A_{3,NN_{F}}^{(2\times0),finite} + \frac{N_{F}}{N}A_{3,N_{F}/N}^{(2\times0),finite} \\ &+ N_{F}^{2}A_{3,N_{F}}^{(2\times0),finite} + N_{F,\gamma}\left(\frac{4}{N} - N\right)A_{3,N_{F,\gamma}}^{(2\times0),finite}, (4.62) \\ \mathcal{F}inite(A_{3}^{(1\times1)}(1_{q},3_{g},2_{\bar{q}})) &= N^{2}A_{3,N^{2}}^{(1\times1),finite} + A_{3,1}^{(1\times1),finite} + \frac{1}{N^{2}}A_{3,1/N^{2}}^{(1\times1),finite} \\ &+ NN_{F}A_{3,NN_{F}}^{(1\times1),finite} + \frac{N_{F}}{N}A_{3,N_{F}/N}^{(1\times1),finite} \\ &+ NN_{F}A_{3,N_{F}}^{(1\times1),finite} + \frac{N_{F}}{N}A_{3,N_{F}/N}^{(1\times1),finite} \\ &+ N_{F}^{2}A_{3,N_{F}}^{(1\times1),finite}. \end{aligned}$$

Explicit formulae for the finite remainders have been given in [18]. These are expressed in terms of one-dimensional and two-dimensional harmonic polylogarithms (HPLs and 2dHPLs) [62, 59], which are generalisations of the well-known Nielsen polylogarithms [63]. A numerical implementation, which is required for all practical applications, is available for HPLs and 2dHPLs [64].

Finally, a finite NNLO contribution arises from the squared one-loop amplitude (4.29) for $\gamma^* \to ggg$:

$$C_3^{(1\times1)}(1_g, 2_g, 3_g) = N_{F,\gamma} \left(\frac{4}{N} - N\right) C_{3,N_{F,\gamma}}^{(1\times1),finite} .$$
(4.64)

5. Construction of the NLO subtraction term

Three-jet production at the leading order is given by:

$$d\sigma_{\rm LO}^R = N_3 \, d\Phi_3(p_1, p_2, p_3; q) \, A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(3)}(p_1, p_2, p_3) \,.$$
(5.1)

This leading order cross section defines the normalisation for all higher order corrections discussed in the following.

At NLO, the tree-level four-parton processes $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$, $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'$ (non-identical quarks) and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}$ (identical quarks) yield three-jet final states. Only the two former processes require subtraction, since the third process is infrared finite.

The four-parton real radiation contribution to the NLO cross section is

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^{R} = N_{4} d\Phi_{4}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{4}; q) \\ \times \left\{ \frac{N}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in P(3,4)} A_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{2N} \tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 4_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + N_{F} B_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \\ - \frac{1}{N} \left(C_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + C_{4}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 1_{q}) \right) \right\} J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{4}) .$$
(5.2)

The antenna subtraction term is then constructed as:

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^{S} = N_{4} d\Phi_{4}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{4}; q) \\ \times \left\{ \sum_{(i,j)\in P(3,4)} \left[\frac{N}{2} d_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, \widetilde{(ji)}_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, \widetilde{p_{ji}}, p_{2}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{N}{2} d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, i_{g}, j_{g}) A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, \widetilde{(ji)}_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(p_{1}, \widetilde{p_{ji}}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{1}{2N} A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \right] \right. \\ \left. + N_{F} \frac{1}{2} \left[E_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(13)}_{q}, \widetilde{(43)}_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{13}}, \widetilde{p_{43}}, p_{2}) \right. \\ \left. + E_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, \widetilde{(34)}_{g}, \widetilde{(24)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(p_{1}, \widetilde{p_{34}}, \widetilde{p_{24}}) \right] \right\}.$$

$$(5.3)$$

Integration of this subtraction term over the antenna phase spaces yields:

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^{S} = N_3 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_3(p_1, \dots, p_3; q) \\ \times \left\{ \frac{N}{2} \left[\mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{23}) \right] - \frac{1}{N} \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) + \frac{N_F}{2} \left[\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{23}) \right] \right\} \\ \times A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(3)}(p_1, p_2, p_3)$$
(5.4)

Together with the virtual one-loop contribution to $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$,

$$d\sigma_{\rm NLO}^{V} = N_3 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_3(p_1, \dots, p_3; q) J_3^{(3)}(p_1, p_2, p_3) \\ \times \left(N \left[A_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_2^1(s_{123})A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}})\right] \\ - \frac{1}{N} \left[\tilde{A}_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_2^1(s_{123})A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}})\right] + N_F \hat{A}_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}})\right), \quad (5.5)$$

one obtains

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NLO}}^{S}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NLO}}^{V}\right) = 0\,,\tag{5.6}$$

thus yielding an infrared-finite result.

6. Construction of the N^2 colour factor

The N^2 colour factor receives contributions from five-parton tree-level $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}ggg$, fourparton one-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$ and tree-level two-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$. The multiple gluon emissions are colour-ordered, and the squared matrix elements do not contain interference amplitudes between different orderings. In the loop contributions to this colour factor, non-planar momentum arrangements are absent.

6.1 Five-parton contribution

At leading colour, the five parton contribution to three-jet final states arises from the colourordered emission of three gluons in $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}ggg$. The matrix element for one ordering is:

$$\left|M_{q\bar{q}3g}^{0}\right|^{2} = N_{5} N^{2} A_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) .$$

$$(6.1)$$

The real radiation contribution to the cross section is obtained by averaging over all possible six orderings:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^2}^R = N_5 N^2 d\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \frac{1}{3!} \sum_{(i,j,k) \in P(3,4,5)} A_5^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, k_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(5)}(p_1, \dots, p_5)$$

= $N_5 N^2 d\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \frac{1}{3!}$
 $\sum_{(i,j,k) \in P_C(3,4,5)} \left[A_5^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, k_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + A_5^0(1_q, k_g, j_g, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] J_3^{(5)}(p_1, \dots, p_5) ,$
(6.2)

where the second expression is obtained by restricting the summation to the three cyclic permutations of the gluon momenta, while making the corresponding three non-cyclic permutations explicit. The cyclic form (6.2) is more appropriate for the construction of the real radiation subtraction term, since this form matches onto the full quark-gluon antenna functions of [32], which have a cyclic ambiguity in their momentum arrangements.

The real radiation subtraction term for this colour factor reads

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{d}\sigma^{S}_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{2}} = N_{5}\,N^{2}\,\mathrm{d}\Phi_{5}(p_{1},\ldots,p_{5};q)\,\frac{1}{3!}\,\sum_{(i,j,k)\in P_{C}(3,4,5)} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} & d_{3}^{3}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}((\widetilde{1}i)_{q},(\widetilde{j}i)_{g},k_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p}i,\widetilde{p}j_{i},p_{k},p_{2}) \\ & +f_{3}^{3}(i_{g},j_{g},k_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},(\widetilde{i}j)_{g},(\widetilde{k}j)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},\widetilde{p}j_{i},\widetilde{p}k_{j},p_{2}) \\ & +d_{3}^{3}(2_{q},k_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},(\widetilde{j}k)_{g},(\widetilde{2}k)_{q})\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},p_{i},\widetilde{p}k_{j},\widetilde{p}_{2}) \\ & +d_{3}^{3}(1_{q},k_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},(\widetilde{k}j)_{g},(\widetilde{i}k)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},p_{i},\widetilde{p}k_{j},\widetilde{p}_{2}) \\ & +d_{3}^{3}(1_{q},k_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},(\widetilde{k}j)_{g},(\widetilde{2}i)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},\widetilde{k}j,\widetilde{p}k_{j},p_{1},p_{2}) \\ & +f_{3}^{3}(k_{g},j_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},k_{g},(\widetilde{j}i)_{g},(\widetilde{2}i)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},k_{j},\widetilde{p}k_{j},p_{2}) \\ & +f_{3}^{3}(k_{g},j_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},k_{g},(\widetilde{j}i)_{g},(\widetilde{2}i)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},k_{j},\widetilde{p}k_{j},p_{2}) \\ & +f_{3}^{3}(k_{g},j_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},k_{g},(\widetilde{j}i)_{g},(\widetilde{2}i)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},k_{j},\widetilde{p}k_{j},p_{2}) \\ & +d_{3}^{3}(2_{q},i_{g},j_{g})\,A_{4}^{0}(1_{q},k_{g},(\widetilde{j}i)_{g},(\widetilde{2}i)_{g})\,J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},k_{j},\widetilde{p}k_{j},p_{2}) \\ & +\left(D_{4,a}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},k_{g})-d_{3}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},\widetilde{Q})\,J_{3}^{(6)}(\widetilde{p}k_{j},\widetilde{p},\widetilde{p}_{2}) \\ & +\left(D_{4,a}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},k_{g})-f_{3}^{0}(i_{g},j_{g},k_{g})\,d_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},(\widetilde{i}j)_{g},\widetilde{Q},\widetilde{Q})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}k_{j},\widetilde{p},\widetilde{p}_{j}),p_{2}) \\ & +\left(D_{4,a}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},k_{g}) \\ & -d_{3}^{0}(1_{q},k_{g},j_{g})\,d_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},i_{g},(\widetilde{j}k)_{g})\right)A_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},(\widetilde{j}k)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}k_{i},\widetilde{p}j_{i},p_{2}) \\ & +\left(D_{4,a}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},k_{g})-d_{3}^{0}(2_{q},i_{g},j_{g})\,d_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},(\widetilde{j}k)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}k_{i},\widetilde{p}j_{i},p_{2}) \\ & +\left(D_{4,a}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},k_{g})-d_{3}^{0}(2_{q},i_{g},j_{g})\,d_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},\widetilde{j},\widetilde{j}k)_{g})\right)A_{3}^{0}((\widetilde{1}k)_{q},\widetilde{j},\widetilde{j}k)_{g},2q)\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}k_{i},\widetilde{p},\widetilde{p}_{i},p_{1})$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \left(D_{4,c}^{0}(2_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}) d_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(2i)}_{q}, k_{g}, \widetilde{(ji)}_{g}) \right) A_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(2ik)}_{q}, \widetilde{(jki)}_{g}, 1_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{2ik}, \widetilde{p}_{jki}, p_{1}) \\ &+ \left(D_{4,d}^{0}(2_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, k_{g}) \right) \\ &- d_{3}^{0}(2_{q}, k_{g}, j_{g}) d_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(2k)}_{q}, i_{g}, \widetilde{(jk)}_{g}) \right) A_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(2ki)}_{q}, \widetilde{(jki)}_{g}, 1_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{2ik}, \widetilde{p}_{jik}, p_{1}) \\ &- \left(\widetilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - A_{9}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{q}) A_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, k_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \\ &- A_{9}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{q}) A_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, k_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \\ &- A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, k_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{9}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, i_{g}, \widetilde{(2k)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1i}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}) d_{9}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, k_{g}, \widetilde{(ji)}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, (\widetilde{(jk)})_{g}, (\widetilde{2k)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1i}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, k_{g}, j_{g}) d_{9}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, i_{g}, \widetilde{(jk)}_{g}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, (\widetilde{(jk)})_{g}, (\widetilde{2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1i}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, k_{g}, j_{g}) d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, i_{g}, \widetilde{(jk)}_{g}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, (\widetilde{(jk)})_{g}, (\widetilde{2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1ik}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, i_{g}, j_{g}) d_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, k_{g}, (\widetilde{jk)}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)})_{q}, (\widetilde{(ik)})_{g}, 2_{q}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1ik}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}) d_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, i_{g}, \widetilde{jk}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)})_{q}, (\widetilde{(ik)})_{g}, 2_{q}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1ik}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, i_{g}, j_{g}) d_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, i_{g}, \widetilde{jk}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)})_{q}, (\widetilde{(ik)})_{g}, 2_{q}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{1ik}, \widetilde{p}_{1jk}, \widetilde{p}_{2ki}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, i_{g}, j_{g}) d_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q}, i_{g}, \widetilde{jk}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)})_{q}, (\widetilde{(ik)})_{g}, \widetilde{(2k)})_{q}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},k_{g},2_{\bar{q}})A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)}_{q},i_{g},\widetilde{(2k)}_{\bar{q}})A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{((1k)i)}_{q},j_{g},\widetilde{((2k)i)}_{\bar{q}})J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{(1k)i}},p_{j},\widetilde{p_{(2k)i}})$$
$$-\frac{1}{2}A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},2_{\bar{q}})A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q},k_{g},\widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}})A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{((1i)k)}_{q},j_{g},\widetilde{((2i)k)}_{\bar{q}})J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{(1i)k}},p_{j},\widetilde{p_{(2i)k}})\bigg\}.$$

6.2 Four-parton contribution

The leading colour four-parton contribution comes from the one-loop correction to $\gamma^* \rightarrow q\bar{q}gg$, where the gluonic emissions are colour-ordered. It reads

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^2}^{V,1} = N_4 N^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1,\dots,p_4;q) \\ \times \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} A_4^{1,a}(1_q,i_g,j_g,2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(p_1,p_2,p_3,p_4),$$
(6.3)

The one-loop single unresolved subtraction term for this colour factor is

$$\begin{split} & d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^2}^{VS,1} = N_4 N^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1, \dots, p_4; q) \\ & \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left[\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1i}) + \frac{1}{3} \mathcal{F}_3^0(s_{ij}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2j}) \right] A_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(p_1, \dots, p_4) \right. \\ & \left. + \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left[d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) \left[A_3^1(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_2^1(s_{1234}) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] \right. \\ & \left. + d_3^1(1_q, i_g, j_g) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1ij}) + \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2}\widetilde{(ji)}) \right) d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. + \left(\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1i}) + \frac{1}{3} \mathcal{F}_3^0(s_{ij}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1j}) - \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1ij}) \right) d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. + b_0 \log \frac{q^2}{s_{1ij}} d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2}\widetilde{(ji)}) - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1ij}) + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{\widetilde{(1i)}2}) - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2j}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1j}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \right) \right. \\ & \left. d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, \widetilde{p_{ji}}, p_2) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \right\} \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left[\tilde{A}_3^1(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. + \left(\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \right) A_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. + \left(\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12i}) \right) A_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right] \right. \\ & \left. + \left(\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12i}) - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{\widetilde{(1i)}j}) - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{\widetilde{(2i)}j}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1j}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2j}) \right) \right. \\ & \left. A_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right] \right] \right] \right. \\ \end{array}$$

6.3 Three-parton contribution

The three-parton contribution consists of the two-loop three-parton matrix element together with the integrated forms of the five-parton and four-parton subtraction terms,

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^{2}}^{S} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^{2}}^{VS,1} = N^{2} \\ \times \left\{ \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_{4}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_{4}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) - \frac{1}{8} \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) - \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{4}^{0}(s_{12}) - \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_{3}^{1}(s_{13}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_{3}^{1}(s_{23}) - \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{3}^{1}(s_{12}) \right] \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) \mathcal{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{b_{0}}{2\epsilon} \left[\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \left((s_{13})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \left((s_{23})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) \right] \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right\} d\sigma_{3} ,$$

$$(6.5)$$

where we defined the three-parton normalisation factor

$$d\sigma_3 = N_3 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right)^2 d\Phi_3(p_1, p_2, p_3; q) J_3^{(3)}(p_1, p_2, p_3) .$$
(6.6)

Combining the infrared poles of this expression with the two loop matrix element, we obtain the cancellation of all infrared poles in this colour factor,

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{2}}^{S}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{2}}^{VS,1}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{2}}^{V,2}\right) = 0.$$
(6.7)

7. Construction of the N^0 colour factor

The contribution for the N^0 colour factor to three-jet final states is more involved than all other colour factors. It receives contributions from all partonic subprocesses: $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}ggg$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}g$ at tree-level, $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}$ at one loop and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$ at two loops. All contributions contain a mixture of colour ordered and non-ordered emissions.

7.1 Five-parton contribution

The subleading colour N^0 contribution of five-parton final states to three jet final states is

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^0}^R = N_5 \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \times \left[\frac{1}{3!} \left(\bar{A}_5^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \sum_{(i,j,k) \in P(3,4,5)} \tilde{A}_5^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, k_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right) + \tilde{C}_5^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \tilde{C}_5^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_q, 5_g, 1_q) - C_5^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] J_3^{(5)}(p_1, \dots, p_5)$$
$$= N_5 \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \times \left[\frac{1}{3!} \, \bar{A}_5^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right]$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in P(3,4)} \tilde{A}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \tilde{C}_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \tilde{C}_{5}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q}, 5_{g}, 1_{q}) - C_{5}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \bigg] J_{3}^{(5)}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{5}), \quad (7.1)$$

where the symmetry factor in front of \bar{A}_5^0 is due to the inherent indistinguishability of gluons. In \tilde{A}_5^0 , gluon (5_g) is effectively photon-like. It does not participate in any three-gluon or four-gluon vertices, and there are no simple collinear limits as $(i)_g||(5)_g$ and $(j)_g||(5)_g$.

The real radiation subtraction term for this colour factor is:

$$\begin{split} & d\sigma_{\text{NNLO,N}^0}^8 = N_5 \, N^0 \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \\ & \times \bigg\{ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \bigg[A_3^0(1_q, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_4^0(\widetilde{(15)}_q, i_g, j_g, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{15}}, p_i, p_j, \widetilde{p_{25}}) \\ & + d_3^0(1, i, j) \, \tilde{A}_4^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, \widetilde{p_{ji}}, p_5, p_2) \\ & + d_3^0(2, j, i) \, \tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, 5_g, \widetilde{(ij)}_g, \widetilde{(2j)}_{\bar{q}}) \, \tilde{A}_4^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, k_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_j, p_k, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \bigg] \\ & + \frac{1}{3!} \sum_{(i,j,k) \in P_C(3,4,5)} A_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, \tilde{A}_4^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, k_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_j, p_k, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \\ & - A_3^0(1_q, 5_g, 3_q) \left[C_4^0(\widetilde{(15)}_q, \widetilde{(35)}_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + C_4^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, \widetilde{(35)}_q, \widetilde{(15)}_q) \right] \, J_3^{(4)}(p_{11}, p_3, \widetilde{p_{25}}, \widetilde{p_{45}}) \\ & - A_3^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 5_g, 4_{\bar{q}}) \left[C_4^0(1_q, 3_q, \widetilde{(45)}_{\bar{q}}, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) + C_4^0(\widetilde{(25)}_q, \widetilde{(45)}_q, 3_q, 1_q) \right] \, J_3^{(4)}(p_{11}, p_3, \widetilde{p_{25}}, \widetilde{p_{45}}) \\ & - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \left(A_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) \, A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{(ji)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right) \\ & - d_3^0(2_{\bar{q}}, j_g, i_g) \, A_3^0(1_q, \widetilde{(jj)}, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \right) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, 5_g, \widetilde{(2j)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1ij}}, p_5, \widetilde{p_{2ji}}) \\ & - \frac{1}{3} \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \left(\tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, i_g, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - A_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, 5_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1ij}}, p_5, \widetilde{p_{2ji}}) \right) \\ & - A_3^0(1_q, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_3^0(\widetilde{(15)}_q, i_g, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \right) A_3^0(\widetilde{(1i5)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i5}}, p_j, \widetilde{p_{253}}) \\ & + \frac{1}{6} \left(\tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, 4_g, \widetilde{(23)}_{\bar{q}}) \\ & - (C_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + C_4^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_q, 3_q, 1_{\bar{q}}) \right) A_3^0(\widetilde{(134)}_q, 5_g, \widetilde{(234)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{134}}, p_5, \widetilde{p_{234}}) \\ & - [C_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + C_4^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_q, 3_q, 1_{\bar{q}}) \right] A_3^0(\widetilde{(134)}_q, 5_g, \widetilde{(234)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_$$

$$+d_{3}^{0}(2_{\bar{q}}, j_{g}, i_{g}) A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, \widetilde{(2j)}_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(15)}_{q}, \widetilde{(ij)}_{g}, (\widetilde{(2j)5})_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{15}}, \widetilde{p_{ij}}, \widetilde{p_{(2j)5}}) -A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, 5_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{((1i)5)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{((2i)5)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{(1i)5}}, \widetilde{p_{(2i)5}}, p_{j}) \bigg) \bigg\}. (7.2)$$

7.2 Four-parton contribution

The four-parton contribution comes from the subleading colour one-loop correction to $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$, where the gluonic emissions are colour-ordered, from the leading colour one-loop correction to $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$, where the gluonic emissions are not colour-ordered and from the one-loop correction to the identical-flavour process $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}$. It reads:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^{0}}^{V,1} = N_{4} N^{0} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_{4}(p_{1},\dots,p_{4};q) \\ \times \left\{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} A_{4}^{1,b}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) - \tilde{A}_{4}^{1,a}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + \tilde{A}_{4}^{1,d}(1_{q},3_{g},4_{g},2_{\bar{q}})\right) \\ - C_{4}^{1,d}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}) - C_{4}^{1,d}(2_{\bar{q}},4_{\bar{q}},3_{q},1_{q})\right\} J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},p_{2},p_{3},p_{4}),$$
(7.3)

The one-loop single unresolved subtraction term for this colour factor is

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{d}\sigma^{VS,1}_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^0} = N_4 \, N^0 \, \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_4(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4; q) \\ & \left\{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1i}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2j}) \right) \tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ & \left. + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \mathcal{A}_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] \mathcal{J}_3^{(4)}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{2} \, \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{J}_3^{(4)}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \right. \\ & \left. + \left(\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{24}) \right) \left(\mathcal{C}_4^0(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{C}_4^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 3_q, 1_q) \right) \mathcal{J}_3^{(4)}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \left\{ - \left[d_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) \left[\tilde{A}_3^1(1\bar{i})_q, (\bar{j}\bar{i})_g, 2_{\bar{q}} \right) + \mathcal{A}_2^1(s_{1234}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, (\bar{j}\bar{i})_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] \right. \\ & \left. \mathcal{A}_3^{(3)}(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, \bar{p}_{\bar{j}\bar{i}}, p_2) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \right] - \tilde{A}_3^1(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{J}_3^{(3)}(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, p_j, \bar{p}_{2\bar{i}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left[\mathcal{A}_3^1((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, (j\bar{i})_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \right] \mathcal{A}_3^{(3)}(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, p_j, \bar{p}_{2\bar{i}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \left[\mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, j_g) \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}\bar{i}\bar{j}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, (j\bar{i})_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^{(3)}(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, p_j, \bar{p}_{2\bar{i}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \left[\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}\bar{i}\bar{j}}) \right] \mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^{(3)}(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, p_j, \bar{p}_{2\bar{i}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \left[\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}}) + \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2\bar{i}\bar{i}\bar{j}}) \right] \mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^{(3)}(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, p_j, \bar{p}_{2\bar{i}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \left[\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2\bar{i}}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}\bar{i}}) \right] \mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0((1\bar{i})_q, j_g, (2\bar{i})_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\bar{p}_{1\bar{i}}, p_j, \bar{p}_{2\bar{i}}) \right. \\ & \left. - \left[\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{1\bar{i}}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2\bar{i}}) - \mathcal{A}_3^0$$

$$\left. \left. \begin{array}{l} A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \\ \left. -b_{0} \log \frac{q^{2}}{s_{12i}} A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \right\} \right\}$$

$$(7.4)$$

7.3 Three-parton contribution

The three parton contribution to the N^0 colour factor receives contributions from the threeparton virtual two-loop correction and the integrated five-parton tree-level and four-parton one-loop subtraction terms, which read

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^{0}}^{S} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N^{0}}^{VS,1} = N^{0} \\ \times \left\{ - \left[\mathcal{A}_{4}^{0}(s_{12}) + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{4}^{0}(s_{12}) + 2 \mathcal{C}_{4}^{0}(s_{12}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) \right. \\ \left. - \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) + \mathcal{A}_{3}^{1}(s_{12}) + \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{3}^{1}(s_{12}) \right] \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \\ \left. - \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \mathcal{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{b_{0}}{\epsilon} \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) \left((s_{12})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right\} d\sigma_{3} \,.$$
(7.5)

Combining the infrared poles of this expression with the two loop matrix element, we obtain the cancellation of all infrared poles in this colour factor,

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{0}}^{S}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{0}}^{VS,1}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N^{0}}^{V,2}\right) = 0.$$
(7.6)

8. Construction of the $1/N^2$ colour factor

The $1/N^2$ colour factor receives contributions from five-parton tree-level $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}ggg$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}g$, four-parton one-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}\bar{q}$ as well as tree-level two-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$. The gluon emissions are all photon-like, not containing any gluon self-coupling. The four-quark processes contribute through the identical-quark-only terms.

The construction of the subtraction terms for this colour factor was discussed in detail in [65, 32].

8.1 Five-parton contribution

Two different five-parton final states contribute at $1/N^2$ to three-jet final states at NNLO: $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}ggg$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q\bar{q}g$ with identical quarks.

The NNLO radiation term appropriate for the three jet final state is given by

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},1/N^2}^R = \frac{N_5}{N^2} d\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q)$$

$$\times \left[\frac{1}{3!} \, \bar{A}_5^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + 2 \, \tilde{C}_5^0(1_q, 2_{\bar{q}}, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 5_g) \right] J_3^{(5)}(p_1, \dots, p_5) \,,$$
(8.1)

where the symmetry factor in front of \bar{A}_5^0 is due to the inherent indistinguishability of gluons. The factor 2 in front of \tilde{C}_5^0 arises from the fact that two different momentum

arrangements contribute to the squared matrix element (4.21). If the quarks and antiquarks are not distinguished by the jet functions, these contribute equally.

The real radiation subtraction term for this colour factor is:

λT

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},1/N^{2}}^{S} &= \frac{N_{5}}{N^{2}} \,\mathrm{d}\Phi_{5}(p_{1},\ldots,p_{5};q) \\ &\left\{ \frac{1}{3!} \sum_{i,j,k \in P_{C}(3,4,5)} \left[A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \,\tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q},j_{g},k_{g},\widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}},p_{j},p_{k},\widetilde{p_{2i}}) \right. \\ &\left. + \left(\tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) - A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},i_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q},j_{g},\widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ &\left. - A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},j_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1j)}_{q},i_{g},\widetilde{(2j)}_{\bar{q}}) \right) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1ij)}_{q},k_{g},\widetilde{(2ij)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1ij}},p_{k},\widetilde{p_{2ij}}) \right] \\ &\left. + 2 \left[A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},5_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \, C_{4}^{0}(\widetilde{(15)}_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},\widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{15}},p_{3},p_{4},\widetilde{p_{25}}) \right. \\ &\left. + A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},5_{g},4_{\bar{q}}) \, C_{4}^{0}(\widetilde{(15)}_{q},3_{q},\widetilde{(45)}_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{35}},p_{1},p_{4},\widetilde{p_{25}}) \right. \\ &\left. + A_{3}^{0}(3_{q},5_{g},4_{\bar{q}}) \, C_{4}^{0}(1_{q},\widetilde{(35)}_{q},4_{\bar{q}},\widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{35}},p_{1},p_{4},\widetilde{p_{25}}) \right. \\ &\left. + A_{3}^{0}(3_{q},5_{g},4_{\bar{q}}) \, C_{4}^{0}(1_{q},\widetilde{(35)}_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{35}},p_{1},p_{2},\widetilde{p_{45}}) \right. \\ &\left. - A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},5_{g},3_{q}) \, C_{4}^{0}(\widetilde{(15)}_{q},\widetilde{(35)}_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{15}},p_{2},p_{4},\widetilde{p_{35}}) \right. \\ &\left. - A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},5_{g},4_{\bar{q}}) \, C_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{q},\widetilde{(45)}_{\bar{q}},\widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{15}},p_{2},p_{4},\widetilde{p_{35}}) \right. \\ \left. - A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},5_{g},4_{\bar{q}}) \, C_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{q},\widetilde{(45)}_{\bar{q}},\widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{15}},p_{2},p_{1},p_{3},\widetilde{p_{45}}) \right. \\ \left. + C_{4}^{0}(1_{q},3_{q},4_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}) \, A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(134)}_{q},5_{g},\widetilde{(234)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{134}},p_{5},\widetilde{p_{234}}) \right] \right\} .$$

$$(8.2)$$

The sum in the first contribution runs only over the three cyclic permutations of the gluon momenta to prevent double counting of identical configurations obtained by interchange of j and k.

8.2 Four-parton contribution

At one-loop, there are two contributions to the colour suppressed contribution proportional to $1/N^2$, one from the four quark final state and one from the two quark-two gluon final state:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},1/N^2}^{V,1} = \frac{N_4}{N^2} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1, \dots, p_4; q) \\ \left\{\frac{1}{2!} \tilde{A}_4^{1,b}(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + 2 C_4^{1,e}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}})\right\} J_3^{(4)}(p_1, \dots, p_4), \quad (8.3)$$

where the origin of the symmetry factors is as in the real radiation five-parton contributions of the previous section.

The corresponding subtraction term is:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},1/N^2}^{VS,1} = \frac{N_4}{N^2} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1,\dots,p_4;q) \\ \times \left\{ \frac{1}{2!} \sum_{i,j \in P(3,4)} \left[-\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_4^0(1_q,i_g,j_g,2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(p_1,p_i,p_j,p_2) \right] \right\}$$

$$+ \left(A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \left[\tilde{A}_{3}^{1}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_{2}^{1}(s_{1234}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right] + \tilde{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) + \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \right] - 2 \left[\mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{12}) + \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{14}) + \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) + \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{34}) - \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) - \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{24}) \right] \times C_{4}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1}, p_{3}, p_{4}, p_{2}) \right\}.$$

$$(8.4)$$

8.3 Three-parton contribution

The three-parton contribution consists of the two-loop three-parton matrix element together with the integrated forms of the five-parton and four-parton subtraction terms,

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},1/N^{2}}^{S} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},1/N^{2}}^{VS,1} = \frac{1}{N^{2}} \left\{ \left[\frac{1}{2} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{4}^{0}(s_{12}) + 2 \mathcal{C}_{4}^{0}(s_{12}) + \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{3}^{1}(s_{12}) \right] A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \tilde{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right\} d\sigma_{3} .$$

$$(8.5)$$

Combining the infrared poles of this expression with the two loop matrix element, we obtain the cancellation of all infrared poles in this colour factor,

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},1/N^{2}}^{S}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},1/N^{2}}^{VS,1}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},1/N^{2}}^{V,2}\right) = 0.$$
(8.6)

9. Construction of the $N_F N$ colour factor

The colour factor $N_F N$ receives contribution from the colour-ordered five-parton tree-level process $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g$, the four-parton one-loop processes $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$ at leading colour and from the two-loop three-parton process $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$.

9.1 Five-parton contribution

The NNLO radiation term appropriate for the three jet final state is given by

$$d\sigma^{R}_{\text{NNLO},N_{F}N} = N_{5} N_{F} N \, d\Phi_{5}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{5}; q)$$

$$\times \left[B^{0,a}_{5}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + B^{0,b}_{5}(1_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] J^{(5)}_{3}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{5}),$$
(9.1)

The two terms represent the two colour orderings of the leading colour amplitude for this process. Since the leading colour $qq'\bar{q}'g$ -antenna subtraction terms allows q to represent either a quark or an antiquark, both colour orderings are mixed together. Therefore, it is not possible to construct a subtraction term for an individual contribution, but only for their sum. The subtraction term for this contribution is

$$\begin{aligned} d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_FN}^{S} &= N_5 \, N_F N \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \end{aligned} \tag{9.2} \\ &\times \left\{ A_3^0(1_q, 5_g, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, B_4^0(\widetilde{(15)}_q, 3_{q'}, \widetilde{(45)}_{\bar{q}'}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(4)}(\widetilde{p}_{15}, p_2, p_3, \widetilde{p}_{45}) \right. \\ &+ A_3^0(3_{q'}, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, B_4^0(1_q, \widetilde{(35)}_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(4)}(p_1, \widetilde{p}_{25}, \widetilde{p}_{35}, p_4) \\ &+ G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) A_4^0(1_q, \widetilde{(34)}_g, \widetilde{(54)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(4)}(p_1, p_2, \widetilde{p}_{34}, \widetilde{p}_{54}) \\ &+ G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) A_4^0(1_q, \widetilde{(54)}_g, \widetilde{(34)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(4)}(p_1, p_2, \widetilde{p}_{34}, \widetilde{p}_{54}) \\ &+ G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) A_4^0(1_q, \widetilde{(54)}_g, \widetilde{(34)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_3^{(4)}(p_1, p_2, \widetilde{p}_{34}, \widetilde{p}_{54}) \\ &+ \left(E_{4,a}^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 5_g) \right) \\ &- G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, d_3^0(1_q, \widetilde{(54)}_g, \widetilde{(34)}_g) \right) A_3^0(\widetilde{(154)}_q, \widetilde{(345)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{134}, p_2, \widetilde{p}_{543}) \\ &+ \left(E_{4,b}^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 5_g) - A_3^0(1_q, 5_g, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, E_3^0(\widetilde{(15)}_q, 3_{q'}, \widetilde{(45)}_{\bar{q}'}) \\ &- G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, d_3^0(1_q, \widetilde{(54)}_g, \widetilde{(34)}_g) \right) A_3^0(\widetilde{(154)}_q, \widetilde{(345)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{154}, p_2, \widetilde{p}_{345}) \\ &+ \left(E_{4,a}^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 3_{q'}, 5_g) \right) \\ &- G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, d_3^0(2_{\bar{q}}, \widetilde{(43)}_g, \widetilde{(53)}_g) \right) A_3^0(1_q, \widetilde{(534)}_g, \widetilde{(243)}_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(3)}(p_1, \widetilde{p}_{243}, \widetilde{p}_{534}) \\ &+ \left(E_{4,b}^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 3_{q'}, 5_g) - A_3^0(3_{q'}, 5_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, E_3^0(\widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, \widetilde{(35)}_{q'}) \\ &- G_3^0(5_g, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, d_3^0(2_{\bar{q}}, \widetilde{(53)}_g, \widetilde{(43)}_g) \right) A_3^0(1_q, \widetilde{(435)}_g, \widetilde{(253)}_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(3)}(p_1, \widetilde{p}_{253}, \widetilde{p}_{353}) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

9.2 Four-parton contribution

The four parton contribution to the $N_F N$ colour factor reads:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_FN}^{V,1} = N_4 N_F N \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1,\dots,p_4;q)$$

$$\left\{ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left(B_4^{1,a}(1_q,i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'},2_{\bar{q}}) + A_4^{1,c}(1_q,i_g,j_g,2_{\bar{q}}) \right) \right\} J_3^{(4)}(p_1,\dots,p_4).$$
(9.3)

The average over the permutations of the momenta (3) and (4) has to be made in both contributions to this colour factor. In the one-loop correction to the $\gamma^* \to qq'\bar{q}'\bar{q}$ final state $B_4^{1,a}$, the secondary quark-antiquark pair has to be symmetrised, since the quarkgluon antenna functions used in the one-loop subtraction terms do not distinguish quarks and antiquarks. The summation over the two colour orderings of the one-loop correction to the $\gamma^* \to qgg\bar{q}$ final state $A_4^{1,c}$ must be kept since the one-loop subtraction functions appropriate to this term contain both orderings because of their cyclicity. The corresponding subtraction term is:

$$\begin{aligned} d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_FN}^{VS,1} &= N_4 N_F N\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1, \dots, p_4; q) \end{aligned} \tag{9.4} \\ &\times \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \left[\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{1j}) + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{2i}) \right] B_4^0(1_q, i_{q'}, j_{\overline{q'}}, 2_{\overline{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(p_1, \dots, p_4) \right. \\ &- \sum_{(i,j) \in (3,4)} \mathcal{G}_3^0(s_{ij}) A_4^0(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(p_1, \dots, p_4) \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left(E_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\overline{q'}}) \left[\mathcal{A}_3^1(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_2^1(s_{1234}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \right] \right. \\ &+ E_3^1(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\overline{q'}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{134}) + \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{2(\overline{43})}) \right) E_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\overline{q'}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \\ &+ (\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{14}) - \mathcal{D}_3^0(s_{134})) E_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\overline{q'}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \\ &+ b_0 \log \frac{q^2}{s_{134}} E_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\overline{q'}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g) \mathcal{A}_3^1(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) + \mathcal{D}_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 4_g) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \\ &+ 2\mathcal{G}_3^0(s_{34}) \mathcal{D}_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \\ &+ b_{0,F} \log \frac{q^2}{s_{134}} \mathcal{D}_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\overline{q}}) \right) \mathcal{J}_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{13}}, \widetilde{p_{43}}, p_2) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \right\} . \end{aligned}$$

9.3 Three-parton contribution

The three parton contribution to the $N_F N$ colour factor contains the three-parton virtual two-loop correction and the integrated five-parton tree-level and four-parton one-loop subtraction terms, which read

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_FN}^{S} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_FN}^{VS,1} = N_F N$$

$$\times \left\{ \left[\mathcal{E}_{4}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_{4}^{0}(s_{23}) - \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{3}^{1}(s_{13}) + \frac{1}{2} \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{3}^{1}(s_{23}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{1}(s_{13}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{E}_{3}^{1}(s_{23}) \right] A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) A_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \right) \hat{A}_{3}^{1}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{b_{0,F}}{2\epsilon} \left[\mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \left((s_{13})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) + \mathcal{D}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \left((s_{23})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) \right] A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{b_{0}}{2\epsilon} \left[\mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{13}) \left((s_{13})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) + \mathcal{E}_{3}^{0}(s_{23}) \left((s_{23})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) \right] A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, 3_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right\} d\sigma_{3} \, .$$

Combining the infrared poles of this expression with the two loop matrix element, we obtain the cancellation of all infrared poles in this colour factor,

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_FN}^S\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_FN}^{VS,1}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_FN}^{V,2}\right) = 0.$$
(9.6)

10. Construction of the N_F/N colour factor

The N_F/N colour factor receives contributions from five-parton tree-level $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g$, four-parton one-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$ at subleading colour as well as threeparton two-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$. The gluon emissions are all photon-like.

This colour factor is part of the QED-type corrections. We described the construction of the subtraction terms for this colour factor previously in [66].

10.1 Five-parton contribution

The NNLO radiation term appropriate for the three jet final state is given by

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F/N}^R = N_5 \frac{N_F}{N} d\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \left[B_5^{0,c}(1_q, 5_g, 2\bar{q}; 3_{q'}, 4\bar{q'}) + B_5^{0,d}(1_q, 2\bar{q}; 3_{q'}, 5_g, 4\bar{q'}) - 2 B_5^{0,e}(1_q, 2\bar{q}; 3_{q'}, 4\bar{q'}; 5_g) \right] J_3^{(5)}(p_1, \dots, p_5)$$

$$= N_5 \frac{N_F}{N} d\Phi_5(p_1, \dots, p_5; q) \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left[B_5^{0,c}(1_q, 5_g, 2\bar{q}; i_{q'}, j\bar{q'}) + B_5^{0,d}(1_q, 2\bar{q}; i_{q'}, 5_g, j\bar{q'}) - 2 B_5^{0,e}(1_q, 2\bar{q}; i_{q'}, j\bar{q'}; 5_g) \right] J_3^{(5)}(p_1, \dots, p_5) ,$$

$$(10.1)$$

where the symmetrization over the momenta of the secondary quark-antiquark pair exploits the fact that the jet algorithm does not distinguish quarks and antiquarks. This symmetrisation reduces the number of non-vanishing unresolved limits considerably, since the interference term in $B_5^{0,e}$ is odd under this interchange. As a result, the unresolved structure of the symmetrised $B_5^{0,e}$ equals the unresolved structure of $B_5^{0,c} + B_5^{0,d}$.

The subtraction term reads:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}\sigma^{S}_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_{F}/N} &= N_{5} \, \frac{N_{F}}{N} \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_{5}(p_{1},\ldots,p_{5};q) \, \frac{1}{2} \, \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left\{ \\ &-A_{3}^{0}(1_{q},5_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \, B_{4}^{0}(\widetilde{(15)}_{q},\widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}},i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{15}},\widetilde{p_{25}},p_{i},p_{j}) \\ &-A_{3}^{0}(i_{q'},5_{g},j_{\bar{q}'}) \, B_{4}^{0}(1_{q},2_{\bar{q}},\widetilde{(i5)}_{q'},\widetilde{(j5)}_{\bar{q}'}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(p_{1},p_{2},\widetilde{p_{i5}},\widetilde{p_{j5}}) \\ &-\frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_{3}^{0}(1_{q},i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'}) \, \tilde{A}_{4}^{0}(\widetilde{(1j)}_{q},\widetilde{(ij)}_{g},5_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(4)}(\widetilde{p_{1j}},p_{2},\widetilde{p_{ij}},p_{5}) + (1\leftrightarrow2) \right\} \\ &- \left(B_{4}^{0}(1_{q},i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'},2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_{3}^{0}(1_{q},i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q},\widetilde{(ji)}_{g},2_{\bar{q}}) + (1\leftrightarrow2) \right\} \right) \\ &\times A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1ij)}_{q},5_{g},\widetilde{(2ji)}_{\bar{q}}) \, J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1ij}},\widetilde{p_{2ji}},p_{5}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left(\tilde{E}_{4}^{0}(1_{q},i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'},5_{g}) - A_{3}^{0}(i_{q'},5_{g},j_{\bar{q}'}) E_{3}^{0}(1_{q},\widetilde{(i5)}_{q'},\widetilde{(j5)}_{\bar{q}'}) \right) \right. \end{split}$$

$$\times A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i5)}_{q}, \widetilde{(j5i)}_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i5}}, p_{2}, \widetilde{p_{j5i}}) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \bigg\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \bigg\{ E_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{q'}, j_{\bar{q}'}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1j)}_{q}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1j)5})_{q}, \widetilde{(ij)}_{g}, \widetilde{(25)}_{\bar{q}}) \times$$

$$\times J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{(1j)5}}, \widetilde{p_{25}}, \widetilde{p_{ij}}) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \bigg\} \bigg\}$$

$$(10.2)$$

10.2 Four-parton contribution

The four parton contribution to the N_F/N colour factor reads:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F/N}^{V,1} = N_4 \frac{N_F}{N} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1,\dots,p_4;q) \\ \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left(B_4^{1,b}(1_q,i_{q'},j_{\bar{q}'},2_{\bar{q}}) + 2C_4^{1,f}(1_q,i_q,j_{\bar{q}},2_{\bar{q}}) + \tilde{A}_4^{1,c}(1_q,i_g,j_g,2_{\bar{q}}) \right) \right\} J_3^{(4)}(p_1,\dots,p_4).$$
(10.3)

Like in the $N_F N$ colour factor, the expression is symmetrised over the momenta (3) and (4) to remove terms which are antisymmetric under charge conjugation, and can not be accounted for properly by the quark-gluon antenna functions.

The corresponding subtraction term is:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_F/N}^{VS,1} &= N_4 \, \frac{N_F}{N} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_4(p_1, \dots, p_4; q) \\ &\times \left\{ \left[\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{34}) \right] \, \mathcal{B}_4^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, \mathcal{J}_3^{(4)}(p_1, \dots, p_4) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{14}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{23}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{24}) \right] \, \tilde{A}_4^0(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, \mathcal{J}_3^{(4)}(p_1, \dots, p_4) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left(\mathcal{E}_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \left[\tilde{A}_3^1(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \mathcal{A}_2^1(s_{1234}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] \right. \\ &+ \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{(\widetilde{13})2}) \, \mathcal{E}_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \, \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \\ &+ \left[\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_3^1(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{34}) \mathcal{E}_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \right] \, \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ &+ \left(1 \leftrightarrow 2 \right) \right\} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left. \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left(\mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \, \hat{\mathcal{A}}_3^1(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) + \left[\hat{\mathcal{A}}_3^1(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ &+ \left. \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{1i}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{1j}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{2i}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{2j}) \right) \, \mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] \, \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \\ &+ b_{0,F} \log \frac{q^2}{s_{12i}} \mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, i_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \mathcal{A}_3^0(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right) \mathcal{A}_3^{(0)}(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, j_g, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) \right) \mathcal{A}_3^{(0)}(\widetilde{(1i)}_q, \widetilde{p}_{2i}, p_j) \right\}$$

$$(10.4)$$

10.3 Three-parton contribution

The three parton contribution to the N_F/N colour factor consists of the three-parton virtual two-loop correction and the integrated five-parton tree-level and four-parton one-loop subtraction terms, which read

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F/N}^{S} + d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F/N}^{VS,1} = \frac{N_F}{N} \\ \times \left\{ -\left[\mathcal{B}_4^0(s_{12}) + \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_4^0(s_{13}) + \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_4^0(s_{23}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \,\left(\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{23}) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_3^1(s_{12}) + \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_3^1(s_{13}) + \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_3^1(s_{23}) \right] A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{23}) \right) \,\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \\ \left. - \mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \,\hat{\mathcal{A}}_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{b_{0,F}}{\epsilon} \,\mathcal{A}_3^0(s_{12}) \left((s_{12})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) \,\mathcal{A}_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right\} d\sigma_3 \,. \tag{10.5}$$

Taking the infrared pole part of this expression, we obtain cancellation of all infrared poles in this channel:

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_{F}/N}^{S}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_{F}/N}^{VS,1}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_{F}/N}^{V,2}\right) = 0.$$
(10.6)

11. Construction of the N_F^2 colour factor

The N_F^2 colour factor receives contributions only from the four-parton one-loop process $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'$ and from the three-parton two-loop process $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$.

This colour factor is also part of the QED-type corrections, described previously in [66].

11.1 Four-parton contribution

The four-parton one-loop contribution to this colour factor is

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F^2}^{V,1} = N_4 N_F^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1,\ldots,p_4;q) B_4^{1,c}(1_q,3_{q'},4_{\bar{q}'},2_{\bar{q}}) J_3^{(4)}(p_1,\ldots,p_4).$$
(11.1)

This contribution is free of explicit infrared poles (as can be inferred from the absence of a five-parton contribution to this colour structure).

The subtraction term corresponding to this contribution is

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F^2}^{VS,1} = N_4 N_F^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1, \dots, p_4; q) \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left[\left(\hat{E}_3^1(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + b_{0,F} \log \frac{q^2}{s_{134}} E_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \right) A_3^0(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. + E_3^0(1_q, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \hat{A}_3^1(\widetilde{(13)}_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] J_3^{(3)}(\widetilde{p}_{13}, \widetilde{p}_{43}, p_2) \\ \left. + \left[\left(\hat{E}_3^1(2_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + b_{0,F} \log \frac{q^2}{s_{234}} E_3^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \right) A_3^0(1_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, \widetilde{(23)}_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. + E_3^0(2_{\bar{q}}, 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \hat{A}_3^1(1_q, \widetilde{(43)}_g, \widetilde{(23)}_{\bar{q}}) \right] J_3^{(3)}(p_1, \widetilde{p}_{43}, \widetilde{p}_{23}) \right\}.$$

$$(11.2)$$

Although \hat{E}_3^1 and \hat{A}_3^1 contain explicit infrared poles, these cancel in their sum, as can be seen from (5.16) and (6.32) of [32]. $d\sigma_{NNLO,N_F}^{VS,1}$ is therefore free of explicit infrared poles.

11.2 Three-parton contribution

The three parton contribution to the N_F^2 colour factor consists of the three-parton virtual two-loop correction and the integrated four-parton one-loop subtraction term, which reads

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_F^2}^{VS,1} = N_F^2 \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\hat{\mathcal{E}}_3^1(s_{13}) + \hat{\mathcal{E}}_3^1(s_{23}) \right) A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \left(\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{13}) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{23}) \right) \hat{A}_3^1(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) + \frac{b_{0,F}}{\epsilon} \left[\mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{13}) \left((s_{13})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) + \mathcal{E}_3^0(s_{23}) \left((s_{23})^{-\epsilon} - (s_{123})^{-\epsilon} \right) \right] A_3^0(1_q, 3_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right] d\sigma_3 .$$
(11.3)

Combining the infrared poles of this expression with the two loop matrix element, we obtain the cancellation of all infrared poles in this colour factor,

$$\mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_{F}^{2}}^{VS,1}\right) + \mathcal{P}oles\left(\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO},N_{F}^{2}}^{V,2}\right) = 0.$$
(11.4)

12. Construction of the $N_{F,\gamma}$ colour factor

The $N_{F,\gamma}$ colour factor comes from the interference of amplitudes in which the external vector boson couples to different quark lines. It receives contributions from five-parton treelevel $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g$, four-parton one-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'$ and $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}gg$ as well as three-parton two-loop $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$ and $\gamma^* \to ggg$. This colour factor is absent in three-jet production at NLO and four-jet production at LO because of Furry's theorem [5], and its contribution to four-jet production at NLO is numerically tiny [52]. The numerical magnitude of this term in the two-loop corrections to the three-parton channel is equally very small [18, 53]. A detailed discussion of this colour factor, and of the effects leading to its numerical suppression is contained in [52]. All partonic channels contributing to this colour factor are individually finite.

In this section, we document this colour factor for completeness. Given that is numerical impact can be safely expected to be negligible, we refrain from its implementation.

12.1 Five-parton contribution

The NNLO radiation term appropriate for the three jet final state is given by

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_{F,\gamma}}^{R} = N_{5} N_{F,\gamma} d\Phi_{5}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{5}; q) \left[-N \left(\hat{B}_{5}^{0,a}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right. \\ \left. + \hat{B}_{5}^{0,b}(1_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \hat{B}_{5}^{0,e}(1_{q}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 3_{q'}, 2_{\bar{q}}, 5_{g}) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{N} \left(\hat{B}_{5}^{0,c}(1_{q}, 5_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) + \hat{B}_{5}^{0,d}(1_{q}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 5_{g}, 4_{\bar{q}'}) \right. \\ \left. + \hat{B}_{5}^{0,e}(1_{q}, 2_{\bar{q}}; 3_{q'}, 4_{\bar{q}'}; 5_{g}) \right) \right] J_{3}^{(5)}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{5}) .$$

$$(12.1)$$

Once symmetrised over the quark and antiquark momenta, this term can be integrated safely without the need for an infrared subtraction. It is free from infrared singularities associated with gluon 5_g unresolved, since the corresponding four-parton tree-level term \hat{B}_4^0 vanishes after symmetrisation over the quark and antiquark momenta. Double unresolved singularities can not appear since there is no tree-level three-parton process proportional to $N_{F,\gamma}$.

12.2 Four-parton contribution

The four parton contribution to the $N_{F,\gamma}$ colour factor reads:

$$d\sigma_{\text{NNLO},N_{F,\gamma}}^{V,1} = N_4 N_{F,\gamma} \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_4(p_1,\ldots,p_4;q)$$

$$\times \left\{ N \hat{B}_4^{1,a}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{N} \hat{B}_4^{1,b}(1_q, 3_q, 4_{\bar{q}}, 2_{\bar{q}}) + N A_4^{1,e}(1_q, i_g, j_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) - \frac{1}{N} \tilde{A}_4^{1,e}(1_q, 3_g, 4_g, 2_{\bar{q}}) \right\} J_3^{(4)}(p_1,\ldots,p_4).$$
(12.2)

Terms which vanish under symmetrisation of the quark and antiquark momenta, arising from $\hat{B}_4^{1,c}$ in (4.46) have been omitted here. After this symmetrisation, all explicit infrared poles present in individual terms in the above expression cancel. Moreover, (12.2) is finite in all single unresolved limits, such that no antenna subtraction is needed.

12.3 Three-parton contribution

The three-parton contribution to the $N_{F,\gamma}$ colour factor consists of the three-parton virtual two-loop correction to $\gamma^* \to q\bar{q}g$ [18] and the one-loop squared correction to $\gamma^* \to ggg$ [53]. Both are individually finite, and were shown to be numerically tiny. Since no subtractions were carried out in the five-parton and four-parton channels, there are no integrated subtraction terms in the three-parton channel.

13. Numerical implementation

Using the matrix elements and antenna subtraction terms derived in the previous sections, NNLO corrections to any infrared-safe three-jet observable in e^+e^- annihilation (jet cross section, event shape variable) can be computed numerically. We implemented this numerical evaluation into a parton-level event generator program, which we name **EERAD3**.

This program is based on the program EERAD2 [39], which computes four-jet production at NLO. EERAD2 contained already the five-parton and four-parton matrix elements relevant here, as well as the NLO-type subtraction terms $d\sigma_{NNLO}^{S,a}$ and $d\sigma_{NNLO}^{VS,1,a}$.

The implementation contains three channels, classified by their partonic multiplicity:

• in the five-parton channel, we integrate

$$\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO}}^R - \mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO}}^S \,. \tag{13.1}$$



Figure 7: Structure of the EERAD3 parton-level Monte Carlo event generator programme.

• in the four-parton channel, we integrate

$$\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO}}^{V,1} - \mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO}}^{VS,1} \ . \tag{13.2}$$

• in the three-parton channel, we integrate

$$d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^{V,2} + d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^S + d\sigma_{\rm NNLO}^{VS,1} .$$
(13.3)

The numerical integration over these channels is carried out by Monte Carlo methods using the VEGAS [67] implementation. The structure of the programme is displayed in figure 7.

The phase space in the four-parton and five-parton channel is decomposed into wedges which are constructed such that two of the invariants are smaller than any of the other invariants. This decomposition allows an optimal generation of phase space points in the unresolved limits. The full four-parton phase space is obtained by summing (a) 12 wedges with (s_{ij}, s_{ik}) smallest, plus (b) 3 wedges with (s_{ij}, s_{kl}) smallest. To obtain the full five-parton phase space, we sum (a) 30 wedges with (s_{ij}, s_{ik}) smallest, and (b) 15 wedges with (s_{ij}, s_{kl}) smallest. The phase space integration in either channel is carried out by integrating only over a single wedge of type (a) and a single wedge of type (b), while summing the integrands appropriate to all wedges of the given type. In doing this summation, we combine (in the exact unresolved limits) phase space points which are related to each other by a rotation of the system of unresolved partons, thereby largely cancelling the angular-dependent terms. In all colour factors containing angular-dependent terms, the combination of phase space wedges yields a substantial improvement of the numerical stability of the results.

It was already demonstrated above that the integrands in the four-parton and threeparton channel are free of explicit infrared poles. In the five-parton and four-parton channel, we tested the proper implementation of the subtraction by generating trajectories of phase space points approaching a given single or double unresolved limit using the **RAMBO** [68] phase space generator. Along these trajectories, we observe that the antenna subtraction terms converge towards the physical matrix elements, and that the cancellations among individual contributions to the subtraction terms take place as expected in the antenna subtraction method.

Moreover, we checked the correctness of the subtraction by introducing a lower cut (slicing parameter) y_0 on all phase space variables, and observing that our results are independent of this cut (provided it is chosen small enough). This behaviour indicates that the subtraction terms ensure that the contribution of potentially singular regions of the final state phase space does not contribute to the numerical integrals, but is accounted for analytically.

14. Thrust distribution as an example

To illustrate the implementation and to study the numerical impact of the individual NNLO contributions, we consider the thrust distribution. We already reported the NNLO results on this event shape distribution in a previous paper [33], where the phenomenological implications are discussed in detail.

The thrust variable for a hadronic final state in e^+e^- annihilation is defined as [69]

$$T = \max_{\vec{n}} \left(\frac{\sum_{i} |\vec{p_i} \cdot \vec{n}|}{\sum_{i} |\vec{p_i}|} \right) \,, \tag{14.1}$$

where p_i denotes the three-momentum of particle *i*, with the sum running over all particles. The unit vector \vec{n} is varied to find the thrust direction \vec{n}_T which maximises the expression in parentheses on the right hand side.

It can be seen that a two-particle final state has fixed T = 1, consequently the thrust distribution receives its first non-trivial contribution from three-particle final states, which, at order α_s , correspond to three-parton final states. Therefore, both theoretically and experimentally, the thrust distribution is closely related to three-jet production.

A study of the phenomenological implications of the NNLO corrections to the thrust distribution was presented in [33], illustrating that the NNLO corrections amount to about 15% of the total result over the experimentally relevant range 0.02 < 1 - T < 0.3, and that inclusion of these corrections results in a considerable stabilization of the renormalisation scale dependence of the theoretical prediction. In the present context, we use the thrust distribution only as an example to illustrate certain features of our calculation.

The three-jet rate and event shapes related to it can be expressed in perturbative QCD by dimensionless coefficients. These coefficients depend, for non-singlet QCD corrections,

only on the jet resolution parameter (respectively on the event shape variable). Typically, one denotes these coefficients by A, B, C, \ldots at LO, NLO, NNLO, etc.

The perturbative expansion of thrust distribution up to NNLO for renormalisation scale $\mu^2 = s$ and $\alpha_s \equiv \alpha_s(s)$ is then given by

$$\frac{1}{\sigma^{\text{had}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{\mathrm{d}T} = \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{A}}{\mathrm{d}T} + \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{B}}{\mathrm{d}T} + \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi}\right)^3 \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{C}}{\mathrm{d}T}.$$
(14.2)

Here we define the effective coefficients in terms of the perturbatively calculated coefficients A, B and C, which are all normalised to the tree-level cross section

$$\sigma_0 = \frac{4\pi\alpha}{3s} N \, e_q^2 \,. \tag{14.3}$$

for $e^+e^- \to q\bar{q}$. Using

$$\sigma_{\text{had}} = \sigma_0 \left(1 + \frac{3}{2} C_F \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \right) + K_2 \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} \right)^2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3) \right) , \qquad (14.4)$$

with $(C_F = (N^2 - 1)/(2N), C_A = N, T_R = 1/2$ for N = 3 colours and N_F light quark flavours)

$$K_2 = \frac{1}{4} \left[-\frac{3}{2}C_F^2 + C_F C_A \left(\frac{123}{2} - 44\zeta_3 \right) + C_F T_R N_F \left(-22 + 16\zeta_3 \right) \right] , \qquad (14.5)$$

we obtain:

$$A = A ,$$

$$\bar{B} = B - \frac{3}{2}C_F A ,$$

$$\bar{C} = C - \frac{3}{2}C_F B + \left(\frac{9}{4}C_F^2 - K_2\right) A .$$
(14.6)

These coefficients depend only on the jet resolution parameter or the event shape variable under consideration, and are independent of electroweak couplings, centre-of-mass energy and renormalisation scale.

The above coefficients include only QCD corrections with non-singlet quark couplings. At $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$, these amount to the full corrections, while the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ corrections also receive a singlet contribution. As discussed above, this singlet contribution arises from the interference of diagrams where the external gauge boson couples to different quark lines. In four-jet observables at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$, these singlet contributions were found to be extremely small [52]. Also, the singlet contribution from three-gluon final states to three-jet observables was found to be negligible [53].

We determine A, B, C from the perturbative contributions to the differential cross section, normalised to the tree-level hadronic cross section:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}A}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{LO}}}{\mathrm{d}T}, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}B}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NLO}}}{\mathrm{d}T}, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}C}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sigma_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma_{\mathrm{NNLO}}}{\mathrm{d}T}.$$
(14.7)

For the determination of the non-singlet coefficients, it is sufficient to consider σ_0 for pure photon exchange, since any electroweak coupling constant cancels out in the above ratio.



Figure 8: Coefficients of the leading order and next-to-leading order contributions to the thrust distributions.



Figure 9: Coefficient of the next-to-next-to-leading order contribution to the thrust distribution.

The LO and NLO coefficients A(T) and B(T) were computed in the literature long ago [5–8, 10]. They are displayed for comparison in figure 8.

The total NNLO coefficient C(T) is displayed in figure 9. The six different colour factor contributions to it are shown in figure 10. It can be seen that the numerically dominant contributions come from the N^2 and $N_F N$ colour factors. The contributions of these two colour factors are of opposite sign, with N^2 being of larger absolute magnitude, thus resulting in a total positive result. Contributions at the 10% level of the total come from the N_F^2 and N^0 colour factors, N_F/N amounts to about 5%, while the most subleading $1/N^2$ colour factor is below 1%.

To illustrate the independence of our results on y_0 , we display the different colour factor contributions to C(T) as function of $-\ln(1-T)$ in figure 11 for different values of the phase space cut $y_0 = 10^{-5}, 10^{-6}, 10^{-7}$. By rescaling all phase space invariants to the total centreof-mass energy squared, y_0 becomes dimensionless. Since the value of (1-T) determines the typical scale of the smallest resolved invariant, one must require y_0 to be several orders of magnitude smaller than (1-T) for the cancellation between matrix element and subtraction term to be accurate. Figure 11 shows very clearly that over the phenomenologically relevant



Figure 10: Different colour factor contributions to NNLO coefficient of the thrust distribution.

range, i.e. 0.02 < 1 - T or equivalently, $-\ln(1 - T) < 4$, our results do not depend on y_0 . As (1-T) approaches y_0 (starting at about $(1-T) \approx \mathcal{O}(1000)y_0$), the calculation becomes unreliable as expected. This behaviour can be understood to arise from the fact that the subtraction terms converge to the full matrix element only once all unresolved invariants are much smaller than any of the resolved invariants.

The numerical convergence of our calculation deteriorates for lower values of y_0 for two reasons.

• the absolute magnitude of matrix elements and subtraction terms increases for decreasing y_0 both in the five-parton and four-parton channel. Consequently, numerical



Figure 11: Dependence on phase space cut y_0 in different colour factors. We see that the results are independent of y_0 for $-\ln(1-T) < 4$, but, as explained in the text, differ at larger values of $-\ln(1-T)$

cancellations between matrix elements and subtraction terms happen over larger orders of magnitude, thereby enhancing numerical rounding errors.

• the four-parton one-loop matrix elements start themselves to become numerically unstable because of the presence of inverse Gram determinants, which can become singular inside the integration region.

Therefore, for all phenomenological applications to the thrust distribution [33], we

choose $y_0 = 10^{-5}$. For applications to other event shapes, one expects a similar behaviour, and one must first determine the value of y_0 required for reliable predictions in the phenomenologically relevant range for that observable.

15. Conclusions and outlook

In this paper, we provide a detailed description of the calculation of NNLO QCD corrections to three-jet production and related event shapes in electron-positron annihilation. At this order, three-parton, four-parton and five-parton subprocesses contribute. The three-parton and four-parton subprocesses contain explicit infrared singularities from loop corrections. Four-parton and five-parton subprocesses contain singularities which only become explicit after integrating the contributions over the phase space relevant to the three-jet final states. Those singularities arise when one or two partons become unresolved (collinear or soft). For an infrared-safe observable, adding together all infrared singularities, one observes a complete cancellation, resulting in an infrared-finite result.

To implement the four-parton and five-parton processes in a numerical programme, one has to devise a procedure for extracting the implicit infrared singularities from them. We extract these singularities using subtraction terms which numerically subtract all infrared singularities from the five-parton and four-parton channels. The subtraction terms are then integrated analytically and combined with the three-parton channel, where they cancel all explicit infrared poles. The subtraction terms are derived using the antenna subtraction method, which is based on antenna functions encapsulating all unresolved partonic radiation emitted from a pair of hard radiator partons.

Three-jet production at NNLO receives contributions from seven different colour factors. Among these, only the six colour factors of non-singlet configurations require subtraction, while the singlet colour factor is separately finite in all three partonic channels. We describe the construction of the antenna subtraction terms for the six non-singlet colour factors in detail, and demonstrate the cancellation of infrared poles.

All partonic channels have been implemented in a parton-level event generator programme EERAD3, which can be used to compute any infrared-safe observable related to three-jet final states in e^+e^- annihilation. We devised various tests of the implementation, demonstrating in particular the correct numerical cancellation between matrix elements and subtraction terms and the independence on phase space restrictions deep inside the subtraction regions.

We observe that the largest part of the NNLO correction is contained in the two leading colour factors N^2 and $N_F N$. The remaining four colour factors yield corrections at or below the ten per cent level.

First phenomenological results on the thrust distribution at NNLO were obtained already in an earlier paper [33]. In the thrust distribution, the NNLO corrections amount to about 15% of the total result. They are lower in magnitude than the NLO corrections, indicating the perturbative stability of this observable. Inclusion of the NNLO corrections considerably reduces the dependence of the result on the renormalisation scale. At LEP, a wide variety of QCD event shapes was measured to high precision [70]. The accurate extraction of the strong coupling constant α_s from these data sets was up to now limited by the theoretical uncertainty inherent to the available NLO calculations. We expect that our new NNLO results will improve this situation considerably. Numerical studies of other event shape variables and of the three-jet rate are ongoing, and will be reported elsewhere.

On approaching the two-jet limit $((1-T) \rightarrow 0$ in the thrust distribution), one observes that the perturbative fixed-order expansion starts to break down due to the emergence of large logarithmic corrections at all orders in perturbation theory. By matching NLO calculations and NLL resummation of these logarithmic corrections [11], a reliable description of distributions over the full kinematic range could be accomplished. Such a matching is also possible at NNLO, where it requires the derivation of a number of new matching constants for each event shape.

The subtraction terms derived here for $e^+e^- \rightarrow 3$ jets at NNLO can be transcribed to the crossed reactions $ep \rightarrow (2+1)$ jets and $pp \rightarrow V + 1$ jet at NNLO without much modification. In these cases, which involve partons in the initial state [41], the same antenna functions are used with different antenna phase spaces. To accomplish the above-mentioned NNLO calculations therefore still requires the analytical integration of the relevant antenna functions over the phase spaces relevant to their initial-state kinematics, which appears feasible with present technology. NNLO calculations of other exclusive observables at hadron colliders, such as $pp \rightarrow 2$ jets, could also be carried out using the antenna subtraction method by constructing their subtraction terms along the lines described here.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Zoltan Kunszt for many comments and for his continuous encouragement throughout the whole project. Much of this work has its foundations in earlier projects, carried out in a very pleasant and fruitful collaboration with Ettore Remiddi, whom we would like to thank for these early contributions, and for many discussions.

This research was supported in part by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF) under contracts PMPD2-106101 and 200020-109162, by the UK Science and Technology Facilities Council and by the European Commission under contract MRTN-2006-035505 (Heptools).

First steps in this project were taken while the authors attended the KITP Programme "QCD and Collider Physics", which was supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. PHY99-07949.

References

 D.P. Barber et al., Discovery of three jet events and a test of quantum chromodynamics at petra energies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 830;
 P. Söding, B. Wiik, G. Wolf and S.L. Wu, Given at award ceremony of the 1995EPS high

energy and particle physics prize, proceedings of the EPS High Energy Physics Conference, Brussels (1995).

- [2] J.R. Ellis, M.K. Gaillard and G.G. Ross, Search for gluons in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Nucl. Phys. B 111 (1976) 253 [Erratum ibid. 130 (1977) 510].
- [3] R.K. Ellis, W.J. Stirling and B.R. Webber, QCD and Collider Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1996);
 G. Dissertori, I.G. Knowles and M. Schmelling, Quantum chromodynamics: high energy experiments and theory, Oxford University Press, Oxford (2003).
- [4] S. Bethke, Experimental tests of asymptotic freedom, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 58 (2007) 351 [hep-ex/0606035].
- [5] R.K. Ellis, D.A. Ross and A.E. Terrano, The perturbative calculation of jet structure in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Nucl. Phys. B 178 (1981) 421.
- [6] Z. Kunszt, Comment on the O(α²_s) corrections to jet production in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Phys. Lett. B 99 (1981) 429;
 J.A.M. Vermaseren, K.J.F. Gaemers and S.J. Oldham, Perturbative QCD calculation of jet cross-sections in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Nucl. Phys. B 187 (1981) 301;
 L. Clavelli and D. Wyler, Kinematical bounds on jet variables and the heavy jet mass distribution, Phys. Lett. B 103 (1981) 383.
- [7] K. Fabricius, I. Schmitt, G. Kramer and G. Schierholz, Higher order perturbative QCD calculation of jet cross sections in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Z. Physik C 11 (1981) 315.
- [8] Z. Kunszt and P. Nason, in Z Physics at LEP1, CERN Yellow Report 89-08.
- [9] W.T. Giele and E.W.N. Glover, Higher order corrections to jet cross-sections in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 1980.
- [10] S. Catani and M.H. Seymour, A general algorithm for calculating jet cross sections in NLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 485 (1997) 291 [Erratum ibid. 510 (1997) 503] [hep-ph/9605323].
- [11] S. Catani, G. Turnock, B.R. Webber and L. Trentadue, Thrust distribution in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Phys. Lett. B 263 (1991) 491; Resummation of large logarithms in e⁺e⁻ event shape distributions, Nucl. Phys. B 407 (1993) 3.
- [12] R.W.L. Jones, M. Ford, G.P. Salam, H. Stenzel and D. Wicke, *Theoretical uncertainties on* α_s from event-shape variables in e^+e^- annihilations, *JHEP* **12** (2003) 007 [hep-ph/0312016].
- [13] G.P. Korchemsky and G. Sterman, Nonperturbative corrections in resummed cross-sections, Nucl. Phys. B 437 (1995) 415 [hep-ph/9411211];
 Y.L. Dokshitzer and B.R. Webber, Calculation of power corrections to hadronic event shapes, Phys. Lett. B 352 (1995) 451 [hep-ph/9504219]; Power corrections to event shape distributions, Phys. Lett. B 404 (1997) 321 [hep-ph/9704298];
 Y.L. Dokshitzer, A. Lucenti, G. Marchesini and G.P. Salam, On the universality of the Milan factor for 1/Q power corrections to jet shapes, JHEP 05 (1998) 003 [hep-ph/9802381].
- [14] Z. Kunszt ed., Proceedings of the workshop on "New Techniques for Calculating Higher Order QCD Corrections", Zürich, (1992).
- [15] Z. Kunszt and D.E. Soper, Calculation of jet cross-sections in hadron collisions at order $O(\alpha_s^3)$, Phys. Rev. **D** 46 (1992) 192.
- [16] S. Frixione, Z. Kunszt and A. Signer, Three-jet cross sections to next-to-leading order, Nucl. Phys. B 467 (1996) 399 [hep-ph/9512328];

G. Somogyi and Z. Trócsányi, A new subtraction scheme for computing QCD jet cross sections at next-to-leading order accuracy, hep-ph/0609041;

Z. Nagy, G. Somogyi and Z. Trócsányi, Separation of soft and collinear infrared limits of QCD squared matrix elements, hep-ph/0702273.

- [17] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and A. Ghinculov, Two-loop correction to Bhabha scattering, Phys. Rev. **D** 63 (2001) 053007 [hep-ph/0010075]; C. Anastasiou, E.W.N. Glover, C. Oleari and M.E. Tejeda-Yeomans, Two-loop QCD corrections to $q \bar{q} \rightarrow q' \bar{q'}$, Nucl. Phys. B 601 (2001) 318 [hep-ph/0010212]; Two-loop QCD corrections to $q \bar{q} \rightarrow q \bar{q}$, Nucl. Phys. **B 601** (2001) 341 [hep-ph/0011094]; Two-loop QCD corrections to massless quark qluon scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 605 (2001) 486 [hep-ph/0101304]; E.W.N. Glover, C. Oleari and M.E. Tejeda-Yeomans, Two-loop QCD corrections to gluon gluon scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 605 (2001) 467 [hep-ph/0102201]; C. Anastasiou, E.W.N. Glover and M.E. Tejeda-Yeomans, Two-loop QED and QCD corrections to massless fermion boson scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 629 (2002) 255 [hep-ph/0201274]; E.W.N. Glover and M.E. Tejeda-Yeomans, Two-loop QCD helicity amplitudes for massless quark massless gauge boson scattering, JHEP 06 (2003) 033 [hep-ph/0304169]; E.W.N. Glover, Two-loop QCD helicity amplitudes for massless quark quark scattering, JHEP **04** (2004) 021 [hep-ph/0401119]; Z. Bern, A. De Freitas and L.J. Dixon, Two-loop amplitudes for gluon fusion into two photons, JHEP 09 (2001) 037 [hep-ph/0109078]; Z. Bern, A. De Freitas and L.J. Dixon, Two-loop helicity amplitudes for gluon gluon scattering in QCD and supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 03 (2002) 018 [hep-ph/0201161]; Two-loop helicity amplitudes for quark gluon scattering in QCD and gluino gluon scattering in supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 06 (2003) 028 [hep-ph/0304168]; A. De Freitas and Z. Bern, Two-loop helicity amplitudes for quark-quark scattering in QCD and gluino scattering in supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 09 (2004) 039 [hep-ph/0409007]: Z. Bern, A. De Freitas, L.J. Dixon, A. Ghinculov and H.L. Wong, QCD and QED corrections to light-by-light scattering, JHEP 11 (2001) 031 [hep-ph/0109079]; T. Binoth, E.W.N. Glover, P. Marquard and J.J. van der Bij, Two-loop corrections to light-by-light scattering in supersymmetric QED, JHEP 05 (2002) 060 [hep-ph/0202266]; T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Analytic continuation of massless two-loop four-point functions, Nucl. Phys. B 640 (2002) 379 [hep-ph/0207020].
- [18] L.W. Garland, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover, A. Koukoutsakis and E. Remiddi, The two-loop QCD matrix element for e⁺e⁻ → 3jets, Nucl. Phys. B 627 (2002) 107
 [hep-ph/0112081]; Two-loop QCD helicity amplitudes for e⁺e⁻ → 3jets, Nucl. Phys. B 642 (2002) 227 [hep-ph/0206067].
- [19] S. Moch, P. Uwer and S. Weinzierl, Two-loop amplitudes with nested sums: fermionic contributions to $e^+e^- \rightarrow q\bar{q}g$, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 114001 [hep-ph/0207043].
- [20] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and D.A. Kosower, One loop corrections to five gluon amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. **70** (1993) 2677 [hep-ph/9302280];
 Z. Kunszt, A. Signer and Z. Trócsányi, One loop radiative corrections to the helicity amplitudes of QCD processes involving four quarks and one gluon, Phys. Lett. B 336 (1994) 529 [hep-ph/9405386];

Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and D.A. Kosower, One loop corrections to two quark three gluon amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 437 (1995) 259 [hep-ph/9409393].

- [21] E.W.N. Glover and D.J. Miller, The one-loop QCD corrections for γ* → qq̄qq̄, Phys. Lett. B 396 (1997) 257 [hep-ph/9609474];
 Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, D.A. Kosower and S. Weinzierl, One-loop amplitudes for e⁺e⁻ → q̄qq̄q, Nucl. Phys. B 489 (1997) 3 [hep-ph/9610370];
 J.M. Campbell, E.W.N. Glover and D.J. Miller, The one-loop QCD corrections for γ* → qq̄gg, Phys. Lett. B 409 (1997) 503 [hep-ph/9706297];
 Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and D.A. Kosower, One-loop amplitudes for e⁺e⁻ to four partons, Nucl. Phys. B 513 (1998) 3 [hep-ph/9708239].
- [22] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and G. Heinrich, Four-particle phase space integrals in massless QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 682 (2004) 265 [hep-ph/0311276].
- [23] G. Heinrich, A numerical method for nnlo calculations, Nucl. Phys. 116 (Proc. Suppl.) (2003) 368 [hep-ph/0211144];
 C. Anastasiou, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, A new method for real radiation at NNLO, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 076010 [hep-ph/0311311];
 T. Binoth and G. Heinrich, Numerical evaluation of phase space integrals by sector decomposition, Nucl. Phys. B 693 (2004) 134 [hep-ph/0402265];
 G. Heinrich, A numerical approach to infrared divergent multi-parton phase space integrals, Nucl. Phys. 135 (Proc. Suppl.) (2004) 290 [hep-ph/0406332]; Towards e⁺e⁻ → 3jets at NNLO by sector decomposition, Eur. Phys. J. C 48 (2006) 25 [hep-ph/0601062].
- [24] C. Anastasiou, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, Real radiation at NNLO: $e^+e^- \rightarrow 2jets$ through $O(\alpha_s^2)$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **93** (2004) 032002 [hep-ph/0402280].
- [25] C. Anastasiou, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, Higgs boson production at hadron colliders: differential cross sections through next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 262002 [hep-ph/0409088]; Fully differential Higgs boson production and the di-photon signal through next-to-next-to-leading order, Nucl. Phys. B 724 (2005) 197 [hep-ph/0501130];
 C. Anastasiou, G. Dissertori and F. Stockli, NNLO QCD predictions for the H → WW → llvv signal at the LHC, JHEP 09 (2007) 018 [arXiv:0707.2373].
- [26] K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, The W boson production cross section at the LHC through O(α²_s), Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 231803 [hep-ph/0603182];
 K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, Electroweak gauge boson production at hadron colliders through O(α²_s), Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 114017 [hep-ph/0609070].
- [27] C. Anastasiou, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, The electron energy spectrum in muon decay through $O(\alpha^2)$, JHEP 09 (2007) 014 [hep-ph/0505069].
- [28] S. Catani and M.H. Seymour, Corrections of O(α²_s) to the forward-backward asymmetry, JHEP 07 (1999) 023 [hep-ph/9905424];
 S. Weinzierl, The forward-backward asymmetry at NNLO revisited, Phys. Lett. B 644 (2007) 331 [hep-ph/0609021].
- [29] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Infrared structure of $e^+e^- \rightarrow 2jets \ at \ NNLO, \ Nucl. \ Phys. B 691 (2004) 195 [hep-ph/0403057].$
- [30] S. Weinzierl, NNLO corrections to 2-jet observables in electron positron annihilation, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 014020 [hep-ph/0606008].

- [31] S. Catani and M. Grazzini, An nnlo subtraction formalism in hadron collisions and its application to Higgs boson production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 222002 [hep-ph/0703012].
- [32] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Antenna subtraction at NNLO, JHEP 09 (2005) 056 [hep-ph/0505111].
- [33] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover and G. Heinrich, Second-order QCD corrections to the thrust distribution, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 132002 [arXiv:0707.1285].
- [34] T. Kinoshita, Mass singularities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 3 (1962) 650;
 T.D. Lee and M. Nauenberg, Degenerate systems and mass singularities, Phys. Rev. B 133 (1964) 1549.
- [35] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder and E.W.N. Glover, A complete $O(\alpha \alpha_s)$ calculation of the photon + 1jet rate in e^+e^- annihilation, Nucl. Phys. **B 517** (1998) 269 [hep-ph/9707224].
- [36] F.A. Berends and W. Giele, The six gluon process as an example of Weyl-van der Waerden spinor calculus, Nucl. Phys. B 294 (1987) 700;
 M.L. Mangano, S.J. Parke and Z. Xu, Duality and multi-gluon scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 298 (1988) 653;
 M.L. Mangano, The color structure of gluon emission, Nucl. Phys. B 309 (1988) 461;
 L.J. Dixon, Calculating scattering amplitudes efficiently, in Proceedings of "Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in elementary particle physics (TASI '95): QCD and beyond", D. Soper ed., World Scientific, Singapore (1996), hep-ph/9601359.
- [37] J.M. Campbell and E.W.N. Glover, Double unresolved approximations to multiparton scattering amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 527 (1998) 264 [hep-ph/9710255].
- [38] G. Sterman and S. Weinberg, Jets from quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 39 (1977) 1436.
- [39] J.M. Campbell, M.A. Cullen and E.W.N. Glover, Four jet event shapes in electron positron annihilation, Eur. Phys. J. C 9 (1999) 245 [hep-ph/9809429].
- [40] D.A. Kosower, Antenna factorization of gauge-theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 5410 [hep-ph/9710213]; Antenna factorization in strongly-ordered limits, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 045016 [hep-ph/0311272].
- [41] A. Daleo, T. Gehrmann and D. Maitre, Antenna subtraction with hadronic initial states, JHEP 04 (2007) 016 [hep-ph/0612257].
- [42] S. Weinzierl, Subtraction terms at NNLO, JHEP 03 (2003) 062 [hep-ph/0302180];
 W.B. Kilgore, Subtraction terms for hadronic production processes at next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 031501 [hep-ph/0403128];
 S. Frixione and M. Grazzini, Subtraction at NNLO, JHEP 06 (2005) 010 [hep-ph/0411399];
 G. Somogyi, Z. Trócsányi and V. Del Duca, Matching of singly- and doubly-unresolved limits of tree-level QCD squared matrix elements, JHEP 06 (2005) 024 [hep-ph/0502226]; A subtraction scheme for computing QCD jet cross sections at nnlo: regularization of doubly-real emissions, JHEP 01 (2007) 070 [hep-ph/0609042];
 G. Somogyi and Z. Trócsányi, A subtraction scheme for computing QCD jet cross sections at NNLO: regularization of real-virtual emission, JHEP 01 (2007) 052 [hep-ph/0609043].
- [43] D.A. Kosower, Multiple singular emission in gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 116003 [hep-ph/0212097].

- [44] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, D.C. Dunbar and D.A. Kosower, One loop N point gauge theory amplitudes, unitarity and collinear limits, Nucl. Phys. B 425 (1994) 217 [hep-ph/9403226]; D.A. Kosower, All-order collinear behavior in gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 552 (1999) 319 [hep-ph/9901201];
 D.A. Kosower and P. Uwer, One-loop splitting amplitudes in gauge theory, Nucl. Phys. B 563 (1999) 477 [hep-ph/9903515];
 Z. Bern, V. Del Duca and C.R. Schmidt, The infrared behavior of one-loop gluon amplitudes at next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Lett. B 445 (1998) 168 [hep-ph/9810409];
 Z. Bern, V. Del Duca, W.B. Kilgore and C.R. Schmidt, The infrared behavior of one-loop QCD amplitudes at next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 116001 [hep-ph/9903516];
 S. Catani and M. Grazzini, The soft-gluon current at one-loop order, Nucl. Phys. B 591 (2000) 435 [hep-ph/0007142].
- [45] H.E. Haber and D. Wyler, Radiative neutralino decay, Nucl. Phys. B 323 (1989) 267.
- [46] F. Wilczek, Decays of heavy vector mesons into Higgs particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 39 (1977) 1304;
 M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Remarks on Higgs boson interactions with nucleons, Phys. Lett. B 78 (1978) 443.
- [47] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Quark-gluon antenna functions from neutralino decay, Phys. Lett. B 612 (2005) 36 [hep-ph/0501291].
- [48] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Gluon gluon antenna functions from Higgs boson decay, Phys. Lett. B 612 (2005) 49 [hep-ph/0502110].
- [49] C. Anastasiou and K. Melnikov, Higgs boson production at hadron colliders in NNLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 646 (2002) 220 [hep-ph/0207004];
 C. Anastasiou, L.J. Dixon, K. Melnikov and F. Petriello, High-precision QCD at hadron colliders: electroweak gauge boson rapidity distributions at nnlo, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 094008 [hep-ph/0312266].
- [50] F.A. Berends and W.T. Giele, Multiple soft gluon radiation in parton processes, Nucl. Phys. B 313 (1989) 595;
 V. Del Duca, A. Frizzo and F. Maltoni, Factorization of tree QCD amplitudes in the high-energy limit and in the collinear limit, Nucl. Phys. B 568 (2000) 211 [hep-ph/9909464];
 S. Catani and M. Grazzini, Collinear factorization and splitting functions for next-to-next-to-leading order QCD calculations, Phys. Lett. B 446 (1999) 143 [hep-ph/9810389]; Infrared factorization of tree level QCD amplitudes at the next-to-next-to-leading order and beyond, Nucl. Phys. B 570 (2000) 287 [hep-ph/9908523].
- [51] G. Altarelli and G. Parisi, Asymptotic freedom in parton language, Nucl. Phys. B 126 (1977) 298.
- [52] A. Signer and L.J. Dixon, Electron positron annihilation into four jets at next-to-leading order in α_s, Phys. Rev. Lett. **78** (1997) 811 [hep-ph/9609460];
 L.J. Dixon and A. Signer, Complete O(α³_s) results for e⁺e⁻ → (γ, Z) → four jets, Phys. Rev. D **56** (1997) 4031 [hep-ph/9706285].
- [53] J.J. van der Bij and E.W.N. Glover, Z boson production and decay via gluons, Nucl. Phys. B 313 (1989) 237.

- [54] K. Hagiwara and D. Zeppenfeld, Amplitudes for multiparton processes involving a current at e⁺e⁻, e[±]p and hadron colliders, Nucl. Phys. B 313 (1989) 560;
 F.A. Berends, W.T. Giele and H. Kuijf, Exact expressions for processes involving a vector boson and up to five partons, Nucl. Phys. B 321 (1989) 39;
 N.K. Falck, D. Graudenz and G. Kramer, Cross-section for five jet production in e⁺e⁻ annihilation, Nucl. Phys. B 328 (1989) 317.
- [55] S. Catani, The singular behaviour of QCD amplitudes at two-loop order, Phys. Lett. B 427 (1998) 161 [hep-ph/9802439];
 G. Sterman and M.E. Tejeda-Yeomans, Multi-loop amplitudes and resummation, Phys. Lett. B 552 (2003) 48 [hep-ph/0210130].
- [56] F.V. Tkachov, A theorem on analytical calculability of four loop renormalization group functions, Phys. Lett. B 100 (1981) 65.
- [57] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Differential equations for two-loop four-point functions, Nucl. Phys. B 580 (2000) 485 [hep-ph/9912329].
- [58] S. Laporta, High-precision calculation of multi-loop Feynman integrals by difference equations, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 5087 [hep-ph/0102033].
- [59] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Two-loop master integrals for γ* → 3jets: the planar topologies, Nucl. Phys. B 601 (2001) 248 [hep-ph/0008287];
 T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Two-loop master integrals for γ* → 3jets: the non-planar topologies, Nucl. Phys. B 601 (2001) 287 [hep-ph/0101124].
- [60] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equations method: new technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation, Phys. Lett. B 254 (1991) 158.
- [61] E. Remiddi, Differential equations for Feynman graph amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. A110 (1997) 1435 [hep-th/9711188];
 M. Caffo, H. Czyz, S. Laporta and E. Remiddi, The master differential equations for the 2-loop sunrise selfmass amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. A111 (1998) 365 [hep-th/9805118].
- [62] E. Remiddi and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Harmonic polylogarithms, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 725 [hep-ph/9905237].
- [63] N. Nielsen, Der Eulersche Dilogarithmus und seine Verallgemeinerungen, Nova Acta Leopoldiana (Halle) 90 (1909) 123;
 K.S. Kölbig, J.A. Mignaco and E. Remiddi, One Nielsen's generalised polylogarithms and their numerical calculation, B.I.T. 10 (1970) 38.
- [64] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Numerical evaluation of harmonic polylogarithms, Comput. Phys. Commun. 141 (2001) 296 [hep-ph/0107173]; Numerical evaluation of two-dimensional harmonic polylogarithms, Comput. Phys. Commun. 144 (2002) 200 [hep-ph/0111255];
 D. Maitre, HPL, a Mathematica implementation of the harmonic polylogarithms, Comput. Phys. Commun. 174 (2006) 222 [hep-ph/0507152].
- [65] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Infrared structure of e⁺e⁻ → 3jets at NNLO: the C_F² contribution, Nucl. Phys. **135** (Proc. Suppl.) (2004) 97 [hep-ph/0407023].
- [66] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover and G. Heinrich, Infrared structure of e⁺e⁻ → 3jets at NNLO: QED-type contributions, Nucl. Phys. 160 (Proc. Suppl.) (2006) 190 [hep-ph/0607042].

- [67] G.P. Lepage, A new algorithm for adaptive multidimensional integration, J. Comput. Phys. 27 (1978) 192.
- [68] R. Kleiss, W.J. Stirling and S.D. Ellis, A new Monte Carlo treatment of multiparticle phase space at high-energies, Comput. Phys. Commun. 40 (1986) 359.
- [69] S. Brandt, C. Peyrou, R. Sosnowski and A. Wroblewski, The principal axis of jets. an attempt to analyze high-energy collisions as two-body processes, Phys. Lett. A 12 (1964) 57;
 E. Farhi, A QCD test for jets, Phys. Rev. Lett. 39 (1977) 1587.
- [70] ALEPH collaboration, A. Heister et al., Studies of QCD at e⁺e⁻ centre-of-mass energies between 91 GeV and 209 GeV, Eur. Phys. J. C 35 (2004) 457;
 OPAL collaboration, G. Abbiendi et al., Measurement of event shape distributions and moments in e⁺e⁻ → hadrons at 91 GeV 209 GeV and a determination of α_s, Eur. Phys. J. C 40 (2005) 287 [hep-ex/0503051];
 L3 collaboration, P. Achard et al., Studies of hadronic event structure in e⁺e⁻ annihilation from 30 GeV to 209 GeV with the L3 detector, Phys. Rept. 399 (2004) 71 [hep-ex/0406049];
 DELPHI collaboration, J. Abdallah et al., A study of the energy evolution of event shape

distributions and their means with the DELPHI detector at LEP, Eur. Phys. J. C 29 (2003) 285 [hep-ex/0307048].

Erratum

Our results on NNLO corrections to three-jet-like observables [71] were checked by two subsequent studies: the calculation of all logarithmically enhanced contributions to the thrust distribution by Becher and Schwartz [72], and an independent implementation of our subtraction formulae by Weinzierl [73].

These works uncovered numerical discrepancies in the two-jet limit of the observables in two of the six colour factor contributions: N^2 and N^0 . In [73], it was shown that the origin of these discrepancies is in an oversubtraction of large-angle soft radiation. In this erratum, we explain the corrected treatment of large-angle soft radiation and its numerical implementation. We discuss the numerical impact of the correction terms.

The modifications concern only sections 3 (treatment of angular terms) and 14 (numerical results).

3. Phase space mappings

3.3 Decomposition of antenna functions into sub-antennae

There were typographical errors in the decomposition of the D_4^0 antenna function into sub-antennae, the correct decomposition reads

$$\begin{split} D^{0}_{4,a}(1,3,4,5) &= \frac{1}{2} D^{0}_{4,l}(1,3,4,5) + A^{0}_{4}(1,3,4,5) - \frac{1}{2} \tilde{E}^{0}_{4}(1,3,5,4) \\ &\quad + A^{0}_{3}(1,3,4) \, S^{0}_{3}(\widetilde{(13)}, \widetilde{(43)},5) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} A^{0}_{3}(3,4,5) \, \left(S^{0}_{3}(1,\widetilde{(54)},\widetilde{(34)}) - R^{0}_{3}(1,\widetilde{(54)},\widetilde{(34)}) \right) \\ &\quad - E^{0}_{3}(5,4,3) Q^{0}_{3}(1,\widetilde{(34)},\widetilde{(54)}) - A^{0}_{3}(1,3,4) \, E^{0}_{3}(\widetilde{(13)},\widetilde{(43)},5) \\ &\quad - A^{0}_{3}(1,3,4) \, Q^{0}_{3}(\widetilde{(13)},5,\widetilde{(43)}) , \end{split}$$

$$D^{0}_{4,b}(1,3,4,5) &= D^{0}_{4,a}(1,5,4,3) , \\ D^{0}_{4,c}(1,3,4,5) &= \tilde{A}^{0}_{4,a}(1,3,5,4) - E^{0}_{4}(1,5,4,3) + B^{0}_{4}(1,5,4,3) + C^{0}_{4}(1,4,5,3) \\ &\quad + E^{0}_{3}(3,4,5) Q^{0}_{3}(1,\widetilde{(54)},\widetilde{(34)}) + A^{0}_{3}(1,3,4) \, E^{0}_{3}(\widetilde{(13)},\widetilde{(43)},5) \\ &\quad + a^{0}_{3}(1,3,4) \, Q^{0}_{3}(\widetilde{(13)},5,\widetilde{(43)}) + a^{0}_{3}(4,5,1) \, Q^{0}_{3}(\widetilde{(15)},3,\widetilde{(45)}) , \end{split}$$

$$D^{0}_{4,d}(1,3,4,5) &= D^{0}_{4,c}(1,5,4,3) . \qquad (3.23)$$

Our numerical implementation contained already the correct formulae.

3.4 Angular terms

The angular terms in the single unresolved limits are associated with a gluon splitting into two gluons or into a quark-antiquark pair. They average to zero after integration over the antenna phase space. To ensure numerical stability and reliability, this average has to take place within each phase space mapping. We have checked this to be the case for the decompositions of E_4^0 and D_4^0 in (3.18), (3.23) of [71]. The angular average in single collinear limits can be made using the standard momentum parametrisation [10,51] for the $i \parallel j$ limit:

$$p_i^{\mu} = zp^{\mu} + k_{\perp}^{\mu} - \frac{k_{\perp}^2}{z} \frac{n^{\mu}}{2p \cdot n} , \qquad p_j^{\mu} = (1-z)p^{\mu} - k_{\perp}^{\mu} - \frac{k_{\perp}^2}{1-z} \frac{n^{\mu}}{2p \cdot n} ,$$

with $2p_i \cdot p_j = -\frac{k_{\perp}^2}{z(1-z)} , \qquad p^2 = n^2 = 0 .$

In this p^{μ} denotes the collinear momentum direction, and n^{μ} is an auxiliary vector. The collinear limit is approached by $k_{\perp}^2 \to 0$.

In the simple collinear $i \parallel j$ limit of the four-parton antenna functions $X_4^0(i, j, k, l)$, one chooses $n = p_k$ to be one of the non-collinear momenta, such that the antenna function can be expressed in terms of p, n, k_{\perp} and p_l . Expanding in k_{\perp}^{μ} yields only non-vanishing scalar products of the form $p_l \cdot k_{\perp}$. Expressing the integral over the antenna phase space in the (p, n) centre-of-mass frame, the angular average can be carried out as

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left(p_l \cdot k_\perp \right) = 0 , \qquad \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \left(p_l \cdot k_\perp \right)^2 = -k_\perp^2 \frac{p \cdot p_l \, n \cdot p_l}{p \cdot n} . \tag{3.27}$$

Higher powers of k_{\perp}^{μ} are not sufficiently singular to contribute to the collinear limit. Using the above average, we could analytically verify the cancellation of angular terms within each single phase space mapping, which is independent on the choice of the reference vector n_{μ} .

In the N^2 and N^0 colour factor, the angular averaging is not sufficient to cancel the $1/\epsilon$ poles in the four-parton one loop subtraction terms [73]. As mentioned in [71] in either of these colour factors, the difference $d\sigma_{NNLO}^{V,1} - d\sigma_{NNLO}^{VS,1}$ contains left-over poles of the form

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon^2} X_3^0(1,i,2) Y_3^0(\tilde{1}i,j,\tilde{2}i) J_3^{(3)}(\tilde{1}i,j,\tilde{2}i) \left\{ s_{\tilde{1}ij}^{-\epsilon} + s_{\tilde{2}ij}^{-\epsilon} - s_{1j}^{-\epsilon} - s_{2j}^{-\epsilon} - s_{1i2}^{-\epsilon} + s_{12}^{-\epsilon} \right\} , \qquad (3.28)$$

where X_3^0 and Y_3^0 are tree-level three-parton antenna functions. Contrary to statements made in [73], these terms do not appear in the colour factor $N_F N$ in our implementation.

Furthermore, for these two colour factors the five-parton subtraction terms themselves do introduce spurious limits from large angle soft radiation. The single soft limit of i or kin (6.3) in [71] is non-vanishing. Instead, it yields (soft i):

$$+\frac{1}{2}d_{3}^{0}(2,k,j)A_{3}^{0}(1,\widetilde{jk},\widetilde{2k})\left[S_{1i(\widetilde{jk})}+S_{1i(\widetilde{2k})}-S_{(\widetilde{2k})i(\widetilde{jk})}-S_{1ij}-S_{1i2}+S_{2ij}\right]+(1\leftrightarrow2)\\-\frac{1}{2}A_{3}^{0}(1,k,2)A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1k)},j,\widetilde{(2k)})\left[S_{(\widetilde{1k})ij}+S_{(\widetilde{2k})ij}-S_{(\widetilde{1k})i(\widetilde{2k})}-S_{1ij}-S_{2ij}+S_{1i2}\right]$$
(3.29)

with

$$S_{abc} = 2 \frac{s_{ac}}{s_{ab} s_{bc}} \tag{3.30}$$

To account for this large angle soft radiation, a new subtraction term $d\sigma^A_{NNLO}$ is introduced. This term is added to the five-parton subtraction term $d\sigma^S_{NNLO}$, and its integrated form is subtracted from the four-parton subtraction term $d\sigma^{VS,1}_{NNLO}$, cancelling the left over $1/\epsilon$ terms and adding new finite contributions to the four-parton and the five-parton subtraction term. The new subtraction term $d\sigma^A_{NNLO}$ contributes only in the N^2 and N^0 colour factors. Its contribution to N^2 reads:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{NNLO,N^{2}}^{A} &= N_{5}N^{2}\,\mathrm{d}\Phi_{5}(p_{1},\ldots,p_{5};q)\,\frac{1}{3!}\sum_{(i,j,k)\in P_{C}(3,4,5)}\left\{ \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\Big(S_{(\overline{(1i)}k)i(\overline{(ji)}k)} - S_{\overline{(1i)}i(\overline{ji})} - S_{2i(\overline{(ji)}k)} + S_{2i(\overline{ji})} - S_{2i(\overline{(1i)}k)} + S_{2i(\overline{(1i)})}\Big) \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{(1i)}_{q},k_{g},\overline{(ji)}_{g})\,A_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1i)k)}_{q},\overline{((ji)k)}_{g},\overline{2q})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\overline{p_{(1i)k}},\overline{p_{(ji)k}},p_{2}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\Big(S_{\overline{((1k)i)}k(\overline{(jk)i)}} - S_{\overline{(1k)}k(\overline{jk})} - S_{2k(\overline{(jk)i)}} + S_{2k(\overline{jk})} - S_{2k(\overline{(1k)i)}} + S_{2k(\overline{(1k)})} \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{(1k)}_{q},i_{g},\overline{(jk)}_{g})\,A_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1k)i)}_{q},\overline{((jk)i)}_{g},2\overline{q})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\overline{p_{(1k)i}},\overline{p_{(jk)i}},p_{2}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\Big(S_{\overline{((2i)k)}i(\overline{(ji)k)}} - S_{\overline{(2i)i(ji)}} - S_{1i(\overline{(ji)k)}} + S_{1i(\overline{(ji)})} - S_{1i(\overline{(2i)k)}} + S_{1i(\overline{(2i)})} \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{(2i)}_{\overline{q}},k_{g},\overline{(ji)}_{g})\,A_{3}^{0}(1q,\overline{((jk)k)},g,\overline{((2i)k)}_{\overline{q}})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(p_{1},\overline{p_{(jk)}},\overline{p_{(2i)k}}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\Big(S_{\overline{((2k)i)}k(\overline{(jk)i)}} - S_{\overline{(2i)k}\overline{(jk)}} - S_{1ik(\overline{(jk)i})} + S_{1i(\overline{(ji)}} - S_{1ik(\overline{(2k)i})} + S_{1ik(\overline{(2k)})} \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{(2k)}_{\overline{q}},i_{g},\overline{(jk)}_{g})\,A_{3}^{0}(1q,\overline{((jk)i)}_{g},\overline{((2k)i)}_{\overline{q}})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(p_{1},\overline{p_{(jk)i}},\overline{p_{(2i)k}}) \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{(2k)}_{\overline{q}},i_{g},\overline{(jk)}_{g})\,A_{3}^{0}(1q,\overline{((jk)i)},g,\overline{((2k)i)}_{\overline{q}})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(p_{1},\overline{p_{(jk)i}},\overline{p_{(2i)k}}) \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{(2k)}_{\overline{q}},i_{g},\overline{(jk)}_{g})\,A_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1i)k)},g,\overline{((2k)i)}_{\overline{q}})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(p_{1},\overline{p_{(jk)i}},\overline{p_{(2k)i}}) \\ &\times d_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1i)}_{g},k_{g},\overline{(2i)}_{\overline{q}})\,A_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1i)k)},g,\overline{((2i)k)}_{\overline{q}})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\overline{p_{(1i)k}},p_{j},\overline{p_{(2i)k}}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\Big(S_{\overline{((1k)i)k((2k)i)}} - S_{\overline{((1k)i)kj}} - S_{\overline{((2k)i)kj}} + S_{\overline{(1k)kj}} + S_{\overline{(2k)kj}} - S_{\overline{(1k)k(2k)}}) \\ &\times A_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1k)}_{q},k_{g},\overline{(2i)}_{\overline{q}})\,A_{3}^{0}(\overline{((1k)i)k},g,\overline{(2k)i}_{\overline{q}})\,J_{3}^{(3)}(\overline{p_{(1i)k}},p_{j},\overline{p_{(2i)k}}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\Big(S_{\overline{((1k)kj}},\overline{(2k)i)} - S_{\overline{((1k)k)kj}} - S_{\overline{((2k)kj)kj}} - S_{\overline{(1k)kj}} + S_{\overline{(2k)kj}} - S_{\overline{(1k)k}\overline{(2k)k}}) \\ &\times A_{3}^{0}(\overline{(1k)}_{q},i_{g},\overline{(2$$

The new contribution to the N^0 five-parton subtraction term is:

$$d\sigma_{NNLO,N^{0}}^{A} = N_{5} N^{0} d\Phi_{5}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{5}; q)
\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left(S_{\widetilde{((1i)5)}ij} + S_{\widetilde{((2i)5)}ij} - S_{\widetilde{((1i)5)}i\widetilde{((2i)5)}} - S_{\widetilde{(1i)}ij} - S_{\widetilde{(2i)}ij} + S_{\widetilde{(1i)}i\widetilde{(2i)}} \right)
\times A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, 5_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{((1i)5)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{((2i)5)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{(1i)5}}, \widetilde{p_{(2i)5}}, p_{j})$$
(3.32)

These large-angle soft subtraction terms contain soft antenna functions of the form S_{ajc} which is simply the eikonal factor for a soft gluon j emitted between hard partons a and c. Those soft factors are associated with an antenna phase space mapping $(i, j, k) \rightarrow (I, K)$. The hard momenta a, c do not need to be equal to the hard momenta i, k in the antenna phase space - they can be arbitrary on-shell momenta.

The integral of each of these soft antenna functions over the antenna phase space can

be written as

$$\mathcal{S}_{ac;ik} = \int \mathrm{d}\Phi_{X_{ijk}} S_{ajc}$$

= $(s_{IK})^{-\epsilon} \frac{\Gamma^2(1-\epsilon)e^{\epsilon\gamma}}{\Gamma(1-3\epsilon)} \left(-\frac{2}{\epsilon}\right) \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \ln\left(x_{ac,IK}\right) + \epsilon \operatorname{Li}_2\left(-\frac{1-x_{ac,IK}}{x_{ac,IK}}\right)\right],$
(3.33)

where we have defined

$$x_{ac,IK} = \frac{s_{ac}s_{IK}}{(s_{aI} + s_{aK})(s_{cI} + s_{cK})} .$$
(3.34)

So that the integration of the new N^2 subtraction terms reads

$$\int d\Phi_{X_{ijk}} d\sigma_{NNLO,N^{2}}^{A} = N_{4} N^{2} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_{4}(p_{1}, \dots, p_{4}; q) \times
\frac{1}{4} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left\{ \left(\mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(1i)}(\widetilde{ji});1j} - \mathcal{S}_{1j;1j} - \mathcal{S}_{2\widetilde{(ji)};1j} + \mathcal{S}_{2j;1j} - \mathcal{S}_{2\widetilde{(1i)};1j} + \mathcal{S}_{12;1j} \right)
d_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, j_{g}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, \widetilde{(ji)}_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, \widetilde{p_{ji}}, p_{2}) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2)
- \left(\mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(1i)}\widetilde{(2i)};12} - \mathcal{S}_{12;12} - \mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(2i)}j;12} + \mathcal{S}_{2j;12} - \mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(1i)}j;12} + \mathcal{S}_{1j;12} \right)
A_{3}^{0}(1_{q}, i_{g}, 2_{\bar{q}}) A_{3}^{0}(\widetilde{(1i)}_{q}, j_{g}, \widetilde{(2i)}_{\bar{q}}) J_{3}^{(3)}(\widetilde{p_{1i}}, p_{j}, \widetilde{p_{2i}}) \right\} (3.35)$$

while for the N^0 term the integration of the 5-parton contribution over the antenna phase space yields

$$\int d\Phi_{X_{ijk}} d\sigma^{A}_{NNLO,N^{0}} = N_{4} N^{0} \left(\frac{\alpha_{s}}{2\pi}\right) d\Phi_{4}(p_{1}, p_{2}, p_{3}, p_{4}; q)$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{(i,j)\in(3,4)} \left(\mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(1i)}j;12} + \mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(2i)}j;12} - \mathcal{S}_{\widetilde{(1i)}(\widetilde{2i});12} - \mathcal{S}_{1j;12} - \mathcal{S}_{2j;12} + \mathcal{S}_{12;12}\right) \quad (3.36)$$

14. Thrust distribution as an example

The terms of the form $d\sigma^A_{NNLO}$ have now been implemented in the five-parton and fourparton contributions to the N^2 and N^0 colour factors. They lead to changes in the numerical values of the NNLO coefficients which are most pronounced in the approach to the two-jet region. Becher and Schwartz [72] have computed the logarithmically enhanced terms which dominate the thrust distribution in the two-jet region using soft-collinear effective theory. They identified a disagreement with our original numerical results for the thrust distribution [71] in the two-jet region for these two colour factors. Our new results are displayed in figures 9, 10 and 11, and are now in full agreement with the results obtained in [72]. Our numbers also agree with the results obtained in the implementation of [73].

In the genuine three-jet region, which is relevant for precision phenomenology, the changes have a minor numerical impact. The corrections to the NNLO N^2 and N^0 colour factors also affect all other event shape distributions [74] in a similar manner; minor numerical effects in the three-jet region, but more significant effects in the two-jet region.



Figure 9: Coefficient of the next-to-next-to-leading order contribution to the thrust distribution. Solid: corrected; dotted: result obtained in [71].



Figure 10: N^2 and N^0 colour factor contributions to NNLO coefficient of the thrust distribution. Solid: corrected; dotted: result obtained in [71].

x 10²



Figure 11: Dependence on phase space cut y_0 in corrected N^2 and N^0 colour factors.

Added acknowledgments

We would like to thank Thomas Becher and Stefan Weinzierl for useful discussions and for numerical comparisons with the results of [72] and [73].

Added references

- [71] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover and G. Heinrich, Infrared structure of $e^+e^- \rightarrow 3$ jets at NNLO, JHEP 11 (2007) 058 [arXiv:0710.0346].
- [72] T. Becher and M.D. Schwartz, A precise determination of α_s from LEP thrust data using effective field theory, JHEP **07** (2008) 034 [arXiv:0803.0342].
- [73] S. Weinzierl, NNLO corrections to 3-jet observables in electron-positron annihilation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 162001 [arXiv:0807.3241].
- [74] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann, E.W.N. Glover and G. Heinrich, NNLO corrections to event shapes in e^+e^- annihilation, JHEP **12** (2007) 094 [arXiv:0711.4711].